

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

# Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending **Community Colleges**

Terry Dionne Mc Quay Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Teacher Education and Professional Development Commons

# Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Terry Dionne Mc Quay

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Linda Swanson, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. James Valadez, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Charlotte Redden, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

## Abstract

Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending Community Colleges

by

Terry Dionne Mc Quay

MA, Ashford University, 2012

BS, Purdue University, 2008

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2020

#### Abstract

Soldiers have returned from serving in Iraq and Afghanistan with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and traumatic brain injuries (TBIs) and have enrolled in postsecondary education in large numbers, especially at community colleges because of flexible course scheduling. The problem explored in this study was the need for 1 community college to have better information regarding classroom needs for student-veterans with PTSD or a TBI. The purpose of this study was to explore the perceptions of both student-veterans with PTSD or a TBI and faculty concerning classroom accommodations for studentveterans at the study site. Knowles' theory of the adult learner served as the conceptual framework for this qualitative case study. Data collection consisted of individual interviews with student-veterans and faculty. Data analysis included coding, theme development, member checking, and triangulation. The results of this study revealed that not all student-veterans want or are aware of classroom accommodations. Student-veteran participants did express a need for a designated person on campus and available mentors. Student-veterans indicated that they benefit from PowerPoint presentations, video recordings, and lectures. Faculty participants indicated they are not aware of studentveterans if the students do not self-identify; faculty were eager to understand how to better serve this student population. Results of this study may lead to positive social change because, with faculty development, faculty will have a better understanding of student-veterans' classroom needs and can provide student-veterans with appropriate classroom accommodations.

# Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending Community Colleges

by

Terry Dionne Mc Quay

MA, Ashford University, 2012 BS, Purdue University, 2008

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2020

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank God for giving me the strength to endure. Additionally, I would like to thank my dad and my mom, who are the greatest. Next, I would love to thank Dr. Linda J. Swanson for motivating me, pushing me, and demanding the best from me. No matter what happened in Dr. Swanson's life or mine, she continued to guide me toward the completion of my study. To the faculty and student-veterans, I could not have done this without you.

# Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: The Problem	1
	The Local Problem	1
	Rationale	5
	Definition of Terms	8
	Significance of the Study	8
	Research Questions	9
	Review of the Literature	10
	Conceptual Framework	10
	Review of the Broader Literature	13
	Implications	19
	Summary	20
Se	ction 2: The Methodology	21
	Research Design and Approach	21
	Qualitative Design	21
	Participants	23
	Measures of Ethical Protection	24
	Data Collection	26
	Data Analysis	28
	Data Analysis Results	30
	Theme 1: Types of Requested Classroom Accommodations	31

Theme 2.1	Preferred (	lassroom /	Accommodations	of Student-Ve	terar

With Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Traumatic Brain Injuries	34
Theme 3: Faculty Understanding of Student-Veterans in the Classroom	39
Section 3: The Project	46
Introduction	46
Rationale	46
Review of the Literature	47
Faculty Development	48
Project Description	54
Project Evaluation Plan	56
Project Implications	57
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	59
Project Strengths and Limitations	59
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	60
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	60
Scholarship	60
Project Development	61
Leadership and Change	62
Reflection on Importance of the Work	62
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	63
Conclusion	63
References	65

Appendix A: The Project	79
Appendix B: Interview Protocol for Student Veterans	.114
Appendix C: Interview Protocol for Faculty	.116

# List of Tables

Table 1. Student-Veterans Responses	. 31
•	
Table 2. Faculty Responses	. 39

#### Section 1: The Problem

#### The Local Problem

Since 2001, the U.S. military has been involved in armed conflicts in the Middle East, and U.S. veterans have served in Iraq and/or Afghanistan (MacManus et al., 2015). After G.I. Bill benefits were expanded in 2008 for all service members serving since September 11, 2001, many veterans chose to enroll in college. The transition to civilian life and the role of student-veterans, however, is often particularly challenging after the trauma of war, in part because many soldiers return with serious health conditions (Laguardia, Michalsen, & Rider-Milkovich, 2017; Misra-Hebert et al., 2015). Some of these conditions include feelings of isolation, posttraumatic stress disorders (PTSD), anxiety, self-blame, depression, triggered distress, and aggressive behavior (Diaz, 2017). According to Jones (2016), 43% of student-veterans attend community colleges for postsecondary enrollments. Community colleges offer flexible course scheduling, more direct faculty-student interaction, and student services geared toward nontraditional learners like student-veterans returning from deployment. Thus, higher education should be prepared for more than 600,000 soldiers leaving the military with post-9/11 benefits (Kato, Jinkerson, Holland, & Soper, 2016). According to Heineman (2017), community college instructors are used to working with diverse student populations with different needs. In addition to other diverse student populations, the student-veteran population continues to be of concern because the research in this area is relatively new and faculty members are continuing to learn how to work with student-veterans. Student-veterans often face challenges when transitioning from military life to civilian and student life. For example, Jones (2016) noted that student-veterans usually bring a higher level of maturity than other student populations; they enter college with a greater focus and sense of purpose on what they want to achieve. In the military, soldiers create a bond; unit cohesion learned during basic training stays with them even after deployments (Williams et al., 2016). When soldiers transition to civilian life, they often have problems functioning normally, developing issues with relationships and employment (Orazem et al., 2016). The problem addressed in this study was the need for one community college to have better information regarding classroom needs for student-veterans with PTSD or traumatic brain injuries (TBIs).

While the body of literature that addresses the needs of student-veterans has been growing, Boyd, Slate, and Barnes (2019) noted that the needs of soldiers returning from war and entering higher education are of concern. Further, Boyd et al. (2019) wrote that the counselors, administrators, and advisors need to be knowledgeable about student-veterans and their needs. In addition, Wilson (2019) identified the need for researchers along with social work educators to help recognize requirements of student-veterans. According to Durosko (2017), student-veterans make up a unique community that expects established procedures like in the military. The Washington State Department of Veterans Affairs shared that while veterans may appear to be alike, they are diverse individuals because they come from different life experiences in addition to their military service (Heineman, 2017; Kirchner, 2015). Although many colleges have increased programs and services for student-veterans, there has been little research on how faculty and staff can help student-veterans transition to campus (Jenner, 2017). Jenner (2017) did

note that student-veterans who have a positive relationship with their professors may transition better than those student-veterans who do not. According to Fernandez, Merson, Ro, and Rankin (2019), survey data revealed that first-year student-veterans did not have adequate support on campus and were less engaged with staff. In addition, Fernandez et al. (2019) noted that although staff and faculty are not trained in the experiences and military culture of this population, there are many programs to assist student-veterans on campus. Some colleges offer mental health services to studentveterans, but student-veterans may not use these services for fear of stigma (Albright et al., 2019). The purpose of this case study was to explore both the perceptions of studentveterans with PTSD or TBIs concerning classroom accommodations for their disability and the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs at one community college in Indiana. The study site is in the state of Indiana, accredited by the Higher Learning Commission, and a member of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools (Brown, 2015). In addition, the study site has also been recognized for its dedication to helping student-veterans and their families and to training staff and faculty to meet the need of student-veterans. However, personal communications with individuals on campus did not support the military-friendly designation of the institution. For example, when I spoke with a student-veteran who had served in Mosul, Iraq, he said that the study site has the responsibility to be prepared to assist student-veterans with TBIs and learning disabilities, with the help of a veteran service officer and local veteran resource centers (personal communication, December 19, 2015). Having been injured by an improvised explosive device, this student-veteran

suffers from a TBI that requires him to ask instructors to repeat things, and he also needs to request extra time to finish assignments (personal communication, December 19, 2015). Furthermore, this student-veteran revealed that he was angry when the teacher began to question his disability as if he were lying (personal communication, December 19, 2015). Finally, a staff member in the Student Affairs Department reported that she was not aware of staff development trainings specifically about student-veterans (personal communication, December 6, 2017).

The site has fewer than 100 student-veterans reported (personal communication, April 20, 2016) or a reported veteran population of 1% to 2% on campus. However, the Director of Veterans Affairs, who is a past Iraq war veteran faculty member, shared that student-veterans may not feel comfortable disclosing if they have disabilities resulting from their service unless they feel that the other person will understand their experience (personal communication, May 13, 2016). In addition, this faculty member said that he would support this proposed project study because it would assist student-veterans and the community college by helping to create student-veteran activities (personal communication, May 13, 2016). An adjunct instructor at the study site disclosed that she had taught many students and realized it would add to her teaching expertise to know more about student-veterans and how their experiences might affect their educational performance (personal communication, May 17, 2016). Another instructor at the community college stated that it would be beneficial to understand and know what student-veterans may need, especially after they return from serving in war (personal communication, May 18, 2016). The problem explored in this study was the need for one community college to have better information regarding classroom needs for studentveterans with PTSD or TBIs.

#### Rationale

Veterans often present with both PTSD and a TBI after combat (Martindale et al., 2016). PTSD is a side effect of serving in a combat situation (Berg, 2016; Laguardia et al., 2017; Orazem et al., 2016). In fact, 25% percent of service members treated by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs have PTSD, which contributes to anxiety, depression, and anger symptoms (Diaz, 2017). This anxiety and depression can result in failure in college by students missing classes and assignments, which can lead to failing grades (Jenner, 2017). The college classroom can be a struggle for student-veterans in the areas of critical thinking, relating to their peers, and translating their military skills to a new environment (Laguardia et al., 2017). Wortman et al. (2018) conducted research on PTSD and identified problems in cognitive understanding. This is a concern to those in higher education, especially because Kato et al. (2016) and Boyd et al. (2019) have written that because of the expansion of G.I. Bill benefits, many veterans are expected to enroll in college. Boyd et al. (2019) noted that more than 1,091,044 student-veterans have received educational benefits to be used toward postsecondary education and that number is growing. The expansion of G.I. Bill benefits may become a chance for society to better understand this population as student-veterans enroll in college and share their experiences (Walter, 2019).

From 2004 to 2009, 7% of Iraq and Afghanistan veterans were diagnosed with a TBI, which contributes to not remembering things or remembering things slowly (Roost

& Roost, 2014). In addition, Mac Donald et al. (2017) noted 20% of Iraq and Afghanistan veterans suffered a head injury, and 83.3% endured a mild TBI. According to Prasad and Bondy (2015), TBIs can be the result of blast explosions, gunshot wounds, and the rocking of the brain back and forth, sometimes followed by a blow to the head. Phelps (2015) noted that the symptoms of a TBI can increase fatigue in a person. Further, some student-veterans may not know they have a mild TBI even though they struggle to concentrate and pay attention in the classroom (Phelps, 2015).

Over the years, the enlistment of female veterans has increased by 15% with reports of sexual trauma, which leads to a 59% increased chance of mental health issues (Mankowski & Everett, 2016). According to Heineman (2017) and Maiocco and Smith (2016), while both male and female soldiers assume multiple roles, such as parent, students, and employees, female veterans have more mental health issues than men upon returning from Iraq and Afghanistan. Like male student-veterans, female soldiers can have PTSD, anxiety, and substance abuse issues resulting from a combination of combat and sexual violence (Albright et al., 2019).

Transitioning from a structured military environment to an unstructured civilian college environment can be difficult for veterans (Allen, 2016; Phelps, 2015), causing them to have a lower degree completion rate compared to other college students because veterans tend to stop attending college with plans to resume later (Albright et al., 2019; Jenner, 2017). In addition, Allen (2016) reported that student-veterans experience stressors, such as long periods of deployments and being away from their family, which can affect their academic performance. According to Hammond (2016), veterans must

feel connected to other veterans as they transition from military to civilian and college life to experience sound developmental change. In fact, Gonzalez and Elliott (2016) suggested that instructors need to create a learning environment where student-veterans are not afraid to admit their mental, physical, or learning challenges.

Equally important, women veterans represent 10% of the veteran population, which will increase 18% by 2040 (Maiocco & Smith, 2016). In addition, 15% of female veterans in the military have experienced sexual trauma, such as sexual coercion, sexually threatening behavior, and sexual assault, combined with combat exposure, which contributes to higher PTSD, and depression symptoms (Albright et al., 2019; Mankowski & Everett, 2016). Student-veterans experience more isolation and are less likely to participate in veteran activities on campus, perhaps because of a lack of social supports after returning home (Mazurkiewicz, Turano, & Baran, 2019). Jenner (2017) noted that female student-veterans may transition better as colleges consider the history of mental health, gender identity, sexual assault, and whether they are veterans of color.

Although student-veterans share their classes with other students, this population may have different requirements that can influence their classroom learning (Allen, 2016). Because of the different needs of student-veterans, the best educational approach must be identified along with an understanding of any mental and physical challenges among this population (Allen, 2016). Berg (2016) noted that reliving events that happened in the war can trigger the fight or flight response of student-veterans with PTSD. In addition, student-veterans with PTSD may also prefer personal space away from their peers, especially if they have sensory impairments or physical injuries, and this

preference could result in a lack of participation in class or labs (Young, 2017). Further, according to Phelps (2015), instructors should give student-veterans an option to leave the classroom when using video or audio clips of loud gunfire and noise.

#### **Definition of Terms**

Community college: A 2-year postsecondary institution (Davidson & Northwest, 2017).

G.I. Bill: Veterans or military educational benefits assistance (Boyd et al., 2019).

*Military-friendly*: People and programs in place to assist veterans as they transition from the military to college (Karp & Klempin, 2016).

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD): Mental health diagnosis consisting of anxiety and chronic depression (Bisson et al., 2015).

*Risky behavior*: Bingeing on substances, stealing, or aggressing to reduce emotional distress, suicidal ideation (Young, 2017).

Student-veteran: Former military person enrolled in college (Jones, 2016).

Traumatic brain injury (TBI): Cognitive disorder sustained from an injury to the brain, often attributable to a blast (Kinney & Eakman, 2017).

Transition: Moving from one social status to the next (Gordon et al., 2016).

*Veteran*: Individual discharged from the military (Boyd et al., 2019).

## **Significance of the Study**

As troops continue to withdraw from Iraq and Afghanistan, those military personnel who have ended their tours of duty and become student-veterans may still struggle with the events they experienced. These students-veterans may require different

classroom accommodations from other students in the classroom because of their military background. In addition, student-veterans experiencing PTSD, TBIs, and sexual trauma may need help adjusting to the college classroom because of problems stemming from their disabilities, which could affect their grades and attendance. Student-veterans may not feel comfortable expressing their needs to faculty and staff who may not understand their experiences. With better understanding from the institution, student-veterans may more comfortably succeed in their studies.

## **Research Questions**

Some soldiers who have returned from wars have been diagnosed with physical and mental disabilities that may influence their capacity for classroom learning. Because 43% of student-veterans attend community colleges for their education outside their military training, it is important for faculty and staff at these institutions to understand any special requirements of student-veterans in order to serve them well. A qualitative case study helped me to explore the perceptions of classroom accommodations of student-veterans transitioning from the military with PTSD or TBI.

RQ1: What are the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs concerning classroom accommodations for their disability at one community college in Indiana?

RQ2: What are the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs at one community college in Indiana?

#### **Review of the Literature**

## **Conceptual Framework**

The framework for this study was Malcolm S. Knowles theory of adult learning. Knowles' (1973) original works identified principles of adult learning as (a) changes in self-concept, (b) the role of experience, (c) readiness to learn, and (d) orientation to learning. Knowles used the term *andragogy* to explain that perhaps adults learned differently than children do because adults tend to be more self-directing even though "society does not nurture the development of this ability although tending to require it" (p. 57). *Andragogy* is usually used to distinguish from the term *pedagogy* that often refers to teaching children (Pyle & Danniels, 2017).

Knowles's first principle of adult learning, changes in self-concept, refers to adults becoming more self-directing as they mature, thus becoming able to make mature decisions on their own (Knowles, 1973). Mature adults who have traveled the world, becoming both independent and self-sufficient, have made decisions to continue their education in the United States by enrolling in colleges and universities at high rates (Allen, 2016).

With the second principle, the role of experience, Knowles (1973) assumed that in a mature adult who has experienced life, all those life experiences could be used as a "reservoir of experience that causes him to become an increasingly rich resource for learning, and at the same time, provides him with a broadening base to which to relate new learnings" (p. 59). This concept can be applied to student-veterans transitioning from

military to civilian life with the goal of applying their knowledge to the learning environment (Kato et al., 2016).

The third principle, readiness to learn, is an assumption "that as adults mature their willingness to learn becomes the product of the developmental tasks required for the performance of evolving social roles, such as workers, spouses, parents, organizational members and leaders, leisure time users, and the like" (Knowles, 1973, p. 60). Student-veterans are normally conditioned throughout the military to continue their education (Jenner, 2017), while being older, married, single, with or without children, and assuming many possible roles (Evans, Pellegrino, & Hoggan, 2015). By enrolling in community college, student-veterans assume a new identity and make decisions that will accommodate their new way of life (Orazem et al., 2016). By enrolling in a community college, student-veterans exhibit their readiness to learn.

The last principle, orientation to learning, is problem-centered with a certain time perspective. In other words, adult students may view education as a means of making their lives better by acquiring needed skills (Knowles, 1973). This problem-centered orientation to learning may be reflected in the increasing number of student-veterans in postsecondary education (Karp & Klempin, 2016), including women who have returned from war and are pursuing a college education despite the trauma of war (Mankowski & Everett, 2016).

Knowles (1973) explained that teacher characteristics shape the learning environment by moving the learning focus away from the formal roles of teaching to something more informal, which could help students overcome possible learning barriers

and feel comfortable in the learning environment. Therefore, student-veterans who continue to pursue their education upon exiting the military will define their roles as educated adults through "experiential learning techniques like group discussions, simulation exercises, and peer-helping and problem-solving activities" (Blaauw-Hara, 2017, p. 5). This is seen as educators create a learning environment where student-veterans feel comfortable and add their experiences to the classroom-learning environment, especially during discussions (Kirchner, 2015).

The first research question in this study involves the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs concerning classroom accommodations for their disability at one community college in Indiana, and this question is reflected in Knowles' principles of role of experience and readiness to learn. As student-veterans exit the military, they feel connected to other student-veterans who understand their experiences and this helps with assuming their new role and readiness to learn (Hammond, 2016; Phelps, 2015). The second research question was focused on perceptions of faculty regarding how they accommodate student-veterans with a disability in the college classroom and is reflected in Knowles' principles of orientation to learning and changes in self-concept. According to Gonzalez and Elliott (2016), faculty should create a learning environment where student-veterans feel comfortable about sharing anything they may be experiencing in the classroom. Then faculty should apply their knowledge and understanding to help the student-veteran population through their classroom challenges (Allen, 2016; Laguardia et al., 2017). Through faculty trainings, different teaching methods can be explored to assist

with diverse learning styles, such as group projects, group discussions, staggered due dates for sections of a paper, or lectures (Allen, 2016).

#### **Review of the Broader Literature**

Posttraumatic stress syndrome. Bisson et al. (2015) found that soldiers returning home from Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom who suffered from PTSD, which they knew little about, were afraid that people would look at them as different if they revealed their diagnosis. Further, Bisson et al. (2015) noted that the effects of PTSD caused returning veterans to act and behave strangely, hear voices, stay home, have nightmares, and experience flashbacks, problems sleeping, anxiety, and depression. Norman et al. (2015) supported these findings by noting that because of physical, emotional, or cognitive disabilities, student-veterans may require accommodations. Referencing the American Psychological Association and the Diagnostic and Statistical Manuel 5, Bisson et al. (2015) clarified the meaning of PTSD as a mental health condition that approximately 45% of returning veterans may suffer from because of exposure to traumatic events during the war and that contributes to possible depression.

According to Wilson (2019), by 2008, 46.5% of active-duty personnel had experienced multiple deployments. In addition, more than 2.2 million soldiers have been deployed to either Iraq or Afghanistan (Allen, 2016) and may return from war with combat stress, including PTSD, contributing to anxiety, aggressive behavior, insomnia, reduced memory, concentration skills, and suicidal ideations and behaviors (DeBeer et al., 2016).

According to Arditte Hall, Davison, Galovski, Vasterling, and Pineles (2019), research on risky behaviors of veteran's shows that 10% self-harm, 7% use illegal substances, 47% lose their temper, 25% self-harm, and 15% destroy things in anger, which leads to incarceration, social isolation, and being a danger to other individuals. In addition, Chen, Owens, Browne, and Williams (2018) noted a research study that reported one fifth of student-veterans who completed the College Student Health Study reported that they used alcohol to deal with PTSD, which resulted in poor academic performance or poor college attendance.

Campus support. According to Young (2017), faculty and staff should be ready to meet the needs of student-veterans who are enrolling at high rates in community colleges by (a) understanding the term *veteran* and (b) understanding student-veteran needs. In addition, Young (2017) suggested that faculty who had served in the military or who had knowledge of the military become the main personnel to help student-veterans feel welcomed on campus and help them deal with the stigma of serving in Iraq or Afghanistan. LeMire, Graves, and Medlin (2018) suggested college librarians be a source of support for student-veterans by having information on PTSD and transitioning from military to campus. In addition, Fawley and Allen (2016) noted that there has not been enough research on student-veterans in community colleges that could help faculty and staff with the creation of services, programs, and strategies to help this population. Allen (2016) noted that student-veterans are resilient and self-confident because of their unique military experience, and they need a supportive college environment understanding of their needs.

Cofield (2019) referenced the works of Bellafiore who pointed out that while interviewing a professor on campus, the professor explained that he never really paid any attention to student-veterans because he opposed the war and student-veterans were invisible to him because of his beliefs. In addition, Cofield (2019) mentions Bellafiore's study in which 12 student-veterans were interviewed with the help of the Office of Veterans Affairs who sent an email asking for participants. Because of those 12 interviews, Bellafiore understood the sufferings and loss of the student-veterans, although still not agreeing with the war, but instead seeing the student-veteran as a unique population on campus (Cofield, 2019). Then, to understand student-veterans experiences and social interactions, Gonzalez and Elliott (2016) referenced Osborn's research in which a qualitative study was conducted using focus groups with 14 student-veterans and two in-depth open-ended, one on one interviews. The results of the interviews and focus groups revealed a need to implement faculty and staff developmental trainings and veteran discussion panels to help create an understanding of student-veterans

Transitions. According to Jones (2016) and Hammond (2016), there are few qualitative or empirical studies addressing student-veterans adjustment to home after serving in the war to include observations. Gordon et al. (2016) noted that transitions are changes in many roles of our life. Davidson and Northwest (2017) identified four stages of transition for soldiers as they leave the military (a) situation, considering what the person is going through at the time of change (b) self, being resilient and able to manage change (c) supports, having family that will help during this change and (d) strategies, managing the transition. In agreement, Griffin and Gilbert (2015) and Hammond (2016)

found Schlossberg's theory of transition to be beneficial to advisors and the educational setting when helping student-veterans adjust to college. However, Jones (2016) noted Schlossberg's theory applied only to 4-year institutions and is adequate because it does not concentrate on 2-year colleges.

Because of the structure and organization of the military, soldiers felt isolated and confused on campus (Bodrog, Gloria, & Brockberg, 2018; Osborne, 2014). Blaauw-Hara (2017) noted that the military culture is focused on the mission, unit cohesion, and discipline unlike college where students are independent and work at their own pace. In addition, Allen (2016) noted a certain cultural shock that student-veterans experienced when they attended college on campus, viewing the environment as unorganized.

Because of these possible barriers, Diaz (2017) noted that many student-veterans may have experienced trouble adjusting from military culture to civilian life. According to Allen (2016) and Walter (2019), staff was not trained about the military environment or post-military experiences of student-veterans. Additionally, Walter (2019) and Allen, (2016) noted that faculty may not have the skills to help this population adjust to college.

Strategies. Blaauw-Hara (2017) noted that United States Armed forces created a learning environment with clear goals and expectations. As an example of creating a learning-focused environment would be to implement strategies meant to improve learning with goals that are attainable. Davidson and Northwest (2017) referenced Sinski's classroom strategies of adding visual and audio aids to the learning content to create more experiential learning in the classroom. In addition, having assignments due in smaller sections to reduce stress on student-veterans (Davidson & Northwest, 2017).

Then, Kranke, Weiss, and Brown (2017) suggested instructors use lectures and discussions in the classroom to help student-veterans interact with other classmates.

After conducting a qualitative research, Norman et al. (2015) found that studentveterans wanted a veteran-friendly campus with outreach services on campus that would assist with health care, GI Bill, disability, and other available campus and community services, including trainings on a wide range of veteran topics such as military culture, and special support for student veterans on campus. Karp and Klempin (2016) supported the continuum of care by identifying Chabot College as having a veteran's center that includes study space, a lounge, computer lab with free printing services, benefits specialist, academic advisors, and mental health specialist. According to Laguardia et al. (2017), colleges do have services in place for student-veterans, but these strategies must be implemented in the classroom by the instructors being trained on all issue's studentveterans face. Evans et al. (2015) agreed that staff could benefit from trainings such as faculty developmental trainings, seminars, and classroom management awareness to help them understand student-veterans who have PTSD or mental disorders. Furthermore, Evans et al. (2015) noted that through faculty development trainings, student-veterans' progress can be tracked through customized webpages where they would have to register to access any veteran services at the school in order to help students as they transition from the military to college.

According to Phelps (2015), faculty should (a) treat student-veterans the way they would treat any other students and not be afraid of them, (b) not discuss the politics of war with student-veterans, (c) ask student-veterans about their medals and experience, (d)

and not get offended if student-veterans do not want to talk about their military experience. Kirchner (2015) and Laguardia et al. (2017) noted that teachers can provide a safe learning environment for the student-veterans despite common stereotypes regarding mental illness. In addition, Kirchner (2015) mentioned that advising, school orientations, and human resource departments could help student-veterans transition by providing valuable information pertaining to what jobs may be suitable for veterans.

The critical analysis of the literature review created a framework for the study on student veterans. I searched the Walden Library to conduct a majority of the literature review. I selected the multidisciplinary database, which has over a million journals and documents and searched within the field of education. I selected all databases to include peer-reviewed literature within the past 5 years. The selected databases included Political Science Complete, Military and Government Collection, Academic Search, Business Source Complete, EBSCO host, ERIC, Psychology articles, books and extra. In addition to the search, I used Google Scholar, which is a free search engine to find full text, peer reviewed and scholarly literature across many disciplines. Further, I examined USA.gov to find literature from the federal governments' perspective and Indiana.gov to located literature from the local and state governments' perspective. The Community College's website provided information to help in defining the local problem. I applied search terms such as student- veterans, Iraq and Afghanistan veterans, soldiers of the Iraq war, wounded warriors, community colleges, military soldiers, PTSD, and combat stress. Additionally, I searched using the term deployments, G.I. Bill, Post 9/11 G.I. Bill, Afghanistan wars, soldiers returning home from war, student veterans in the college

classroom, faculty teaching, student veterans transitioning to college, mental health issues of veterans, and Traumatic Brain Injury.

## **Implications**

The literature review revealed that research was new in the area of student-veterans returning from the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan. Still, there is so much to understand about student-veterans such as their diagnoses, experiences, classroom needs, and campus awareness. Kirchner (2015) explained that student-veterans had unique needs and until in-depth research was conducted with evidence, colleges would always find themselves debating about the needs of this population. In addition, Kirchner (2015) noted that with a better understanding of this population the colleges could create safe classroom environments, advocate on behalf of the student-veterans, and provide sufficient support. After serving in the war, student-veterans may suffer from mental and physical illnesses, which require the colleges to become knowledgeable of resulting symptoms that may hinder student-veterans learning and adaptation to the college campus. The result of this study can help create training for faculty to accommodate student-veterans in the classroom.

The findings and recommendations can make the campus more aware of student-veterans through future research to provide faculty with trainings on student-veterans exiting from the military and how to better assist them in the classroom. Karp and Klempin (2016) noted that community colleges are engaged in institutional reform to deliver better services to students. Because a gap exists between the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs concerning classroom accommodations for their

disabilities and perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs, the results of this research can used to help faculty better assist student-veterans at the community college. Because of this study and possible subsequent faculty development efforts, student-veterans can eventually be better accommodated in the classroom. The findings of this research can lead to positive social change by student-veterans being more successful in their studies.

#### **Summary**

In conclusion, soldiers have returned from the Iraq and Afghanistan wars with mental and physical conditions such as loss of limbs, traumatic brain injuries, and post-traumatic stress. In addition, literature indicates that many student-veterans are continuing their education by using their G.I. Bill or military educational benefits. Further findings indicate that upon entering college classrooms, this population may be experiencing barriers to learning, often because of their illnesses and college faculties play an important role in helping the student-veteran transition to the classroom and overcome any barriers.

In Section 1, I introduced the problem, developed a problem statement and rationale, which led to the research questions. The literature review included an extensive review of what has been researched and written about on my topic. In Section 2, I discuss the methodology, including the research design, sample and setting, data collection, and data analysis.

## Section 2: The Methodology

Many student-veterans are returning to college after deployment, and a number of them suffer from combat-related illnesses. Many of these student-veterans attend community colleges because the cost is low and access is readily available. In this study, I explored the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs regarding classroom accommodations for their disability and the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs in one community college in Indiana.

#### **Research Design and Approach**

## **Qualitative Design**

For this research, I chose a qualitative approach rather than a quantitative approach to gain an in-depth understanding about the classroom accommodation needs of student-veterans who attend community college classrooms. I did not select a quantitative design because my research was more focused on the perceptions of participants, whereas a quantitative approach would include selected variables with a prediction of the outcomes (Lodico, Spaulding, & Voegtle, 2010). Because I wanted to gather rich descriptions of perceptions, I used a bounded case study to conduct individual interviews with student-veterans and faculty to better understand the circumstances. According to J. Creswell (2012), case studies are bounded systems described as having certain parameters, such as specific place and time. Merriam and Tisdell (2015) described a bounded case study as one that could be "fenced in" by studying a single entity (p. 38). Additionally, schools may be cases because they are easy to visualize (Merriam &

Tisdell, 2015). A bounded case study is detailed with multiple sources of information (J. Creswell, 2012) and reports a case description and case-based themes (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Therefore, my case is one community college where I focused on occurrences in real-life contexts (Yin, 2013).

I did not consider other designs because of their focus, such as grounded theory that generates a theory from the data or participants when other theories cannot be applied. Additionally, grounded theory is not borrowed from other studies but created from its own information. Therefore, grounded theory "fits the situation, works in practice, is sensitive to individuals in the setting, and may represent the complexities found in the process" (C. Creswell, 2012, p. 423). Also, I did not choose ethnography because, with that design, a researcher seeks to describe a culture with shared values, beliefs, and attitudes that structure the behavior patterns of a specific group of people (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Additionally, in ethnographic studies, a researcher will spend a lot of time in the field interviewing, observing, and gathering documents about the group to understand their culture sharing behaviors, language, and beliefs (C. Creswell, 2012). Furthermore, after considering the narrative approach, I rejected it because I was not interested in having participants tell their stories in a chronological order, such as a life history (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). According to C. Creswell (2012), narrative research explores a particular person's experiences and focuses on understanding that individual's history and how it contributes to present experiences. After considering these other qualitative designs, I chose the case study as the appropriate research approach.

# **Participants**

For this study I relied on purposeful sampling, which refers to intentionally selecting individuals at the study site who provide the best information to better understand the phenomenon (J. Creswell, 2012). I interviewed five student-veterans who are part-time or full-time students, male or female, and served in the Iraq or Afghanistan wars. I focused on these wars because they were recent, and soldiers returned with neuropsychological difficulties that affect how student-veterans learn (Martindale et al., 2016). I interviewed five faculty members, full-time or part-time, who taught student-veterans in one community college. According to J. Creswell (2012), the fewer individuals studied, the more in-depth a researcher can explore the phenomenon being studied.

J. Creswell (2012) defined a gatekeeper as, "an individual who has an official or unofficial role at the site, provides entrance to a site, helps researchers locate people, and assists in the identification of places and studies" (p. 211). My gatekeeper was the director of veteran services, with whom I was already acquainted. The director of veteran services and I shared common military service in Iraq and both have service-connected disabilities. He assisted me in identifying the best locations for posting flyers around the campus and where I could personally hand out flyers to interested students in the libraries, computer labs, and hallways. The flyer addressed the study and its purpose. In addition, the flyer noted that a \$25.00 Walmart gift card would be provided as compensation for participating; my email address and phone number were included so that anyone interested and qualified could contact me. I also asked the gatekeeper to mass

email the flyer to student-veterans. When prospective participants responded, I emailed the informed consent form and asked that they read, sign, and send it back with their contact information. In addition, I informed the student-veteran participants that I would call to set up an interview time and location. When the interview was complete, I thanked the student-veterans for their time and participation and provided them with the \$25.00 gift card. In addition, I advised them that once the recorded information had been transcribed, I would email it to them so that they could read over my transcription to make sure it reflected their responses during the interview. Any information not captured correctly would be updated accurately.

Next, I asked the gatekeeper to mass email the flyer to faculty by asking that they participate in my study by sitting for an interview regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs. Once I received responses from those who were interested, I emailed the informed consent form asking that they sign and send it back. I followed up with an email to arrange a time for the interview. Once we met, I made sure that I had the signed informed consent form and gave the instructor the \$25.00 gift card after the interview was complete. I advised them that once the recorded information was transcribed, I would email it so that they could read it over to make sure that I captured their words correctly. Any information not captured correctly would be updated. Lastly, I thanked the instructors for their time and offered a copy of the study when completed.

#### **Measures of Ethical Protection**

Once conditional approval was granted from Walden, I submitted to the study site an Application for Human Subject Research Project Approval to the Office of

Institutional Research (OIR), which also sought approval from the Human Subjects Review Board (HSRB) of the community college before I was able to gain access to prospective participants. Once approval was given, I then forward all the information to the Walden IRB for review and final approval. According to C. Creswell (2012), it is important to first gain approval from the Institutional Review Board to conduct a study and the procedures outlined above will meet the requirements for both Walden and the study site.

As C. Creswell (2012) noted, it is important to establish your role as a researcher because of the relationships that may grow out of conducting qualitative research. I established boundaries by remaining professional. I informed the participants that I was a student conducting a doctoral study, not a counselor or affiliated with the military. Further, I always considered the rights and protection of the students being perfectly honest and explaining the purpose of the project. I also maintained a field notes journal for my own reflections about each interview. According to Bogdan and Biklen (2007), the role of the researcher depends on the goal of the study. My role was to participate during interviews by asking questions and probing for further details. During the interviews, I listened carefully being sure to use probes to help the participant expand upon their answers.

While not having a supervisory role within the college or over the students, I taught as an adjunct instructor and earned an associate degree from the campus during my academic journey. However, I was not acquainted with any participants prior to their becoming part of the study.

In addition, as noted on the informed consent, participants were guaranteed the right to withdraw from the study at any time without any negative results. Pseudonyms were used to identify participants to protect their identity. I advised the student-veterans that if at any moment they wanted to stop the interview, to use a hand gesture. If needed, Veterans Affairs Crisis Line brochures were available to the student-veterans. Lastly, I thanked the student-veterans for their service and the faculty members for their participation.

#### **Data Collection**

According to J. Creswell (2012) observations, interviews, questions, documents, and audiovisual materials are common forms of qualitative data collection. However, in the field of education interviews have been the most common form of data collection and some studies have used only interviews to conduct qualitative research (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I used interviews to understand the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs concerning classroom accommodation for their disability and to understand the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs at one community college in Indiana. The interviews allowed me to meet individually with participants and ask questions related to my research (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Following J. Creswell's (2012) structure, I designed two interview protocols, one for student-veterans (see Appendix B) and one for faculty (see Appendix C) to help with the interviewing process. The title of the project appeared at the top. Next, I mentioned the time, date, place, interviewer, interviewee, and the interviewee's position. In addition, I had a section describing the purpose of the study,

data being collected, and individuals providing it. I conducted 45-minute individual interviews of each of the individuals in the two participant pools. The interview questions were designed with the first questions serving as an ice breaker to help participants feel comfortable. The next interview questions helped to answer the research questions. According to Seidman (2013), the benefits of using an audio recorder is to have the participants own words and original data. Mostly importantly, the researcher can check for accuracy and learn how to better interview (Seidman, 2013). I used an audio recorder with an external microphone to conduct the interviews and take notes at the same time in case the recorder malfunctioned. The audio recording allowed me to capture the exact words along with pauses, tones of voice, interruptions, and laughter as recommended by Lodico et al., 2010. At the end of the interview, I thanked the participants for participating in the study assuring participant that I would provide the results in writing to them.

According to Lodico et al. (2010), qualitative studies can be organized by site, person, time periods, and type of data. Seidman (2013) recommended making copies of the informed consents, labeling audiotapes of interviews, and keeping track of transcripts of interviews. Additionally, Seidman (2013) stressed the important of being able to trace interview data to the original source on the interview and being able to contact the participants. I kept data on my personal computer, which has a password that no one else can access. I organized the data by creating digital folders for interviews with fictitious names, date, time of interview, while saving the data and backing it up to my external

drive. After five years I will delete all files and shred the interview and observational data.

#### **Data Analysis**

According to C. Creswell (2012), there are several steps to analyzing and interpreting qualitative data: (a) prepare and organize the data for analysis (b) explore and code the data (c) build descriptions and themes with the codes (d) represent and report qualitative findings (e) interpret the findings and (f) validate the accuracy of the findings. The process is inductive, or the bottom- up approach, while simultaneously collecting and analyzing data to create themes. I created folders on my personal computer to organize the interviews. Next, I transcribed the interview data by using Word to create a two- inch margin on both sides of the paper for notes. I carefully noted nonverbal communication like a pause or laughter which would help with understanding the information.

In addition, C. Creswell (2012) noted the first step is to understand the data and code it by segmenting and labeling the data to help eventually create themes that are extended phrase outcomes of coding, categorization, and analytic reflection that bring meaning and identity to something (Saldana, 2016). During this analytic process of coding or classifying, the researcher reads, marks the transcripts, and labels the passages that stand out as interesting (Seidman, 2013). Following Saldana's (2016) recommendations, I coded simultaneously as I began to collect my data by jotting down words or phrases that caught my attention then formatting each transcript into three columns which contained the interview transcript, code note, and the final code. Further, following Saldana's (2016) suggestions, I maintained focus on coding, by keeping my

research questions, goals, and the theoretical framework within reach to view. Then Bogdan and Biklen (2007) recommended creating a list of coding categories from the patterns of behaviors, phrases, regularities, and topics the data cover. As I analyzed each transcript, I grouped similar codes from each interview question which helped me to narrow down the codes and determine the final codes. Next, the final codes helped me to create broad themes as I reflected on the responses from participants and sometimes combining themes. As an example, Saldana (2016) mentioned "security" as a code but "false sense of security" as a theme which adds more meaning to the code while considering the individuals response. According to C. Creswell (2012), a narrative discussion is the initial way to represent and report the findings of a qualitative report. I discussed the themes through a narrative discussion including dialogue, quotes, and observations from the participants. I self-reflected on the past literature and interviews to make sense of the bigger picture. My findings were summarized in a detailed narrative discussion of the themes that answer the research question. In addition, I stated each research question and explain the findings for each.

Furthermore, C. Creswell (2012) noted throughout the process of collecting and analyzing data, accuracy can be established by the process of triangulation. I established this by examining past literature to the interview responses, interviewing student-veterans who had PTSD or TBIs and had served in the war. Additionally, I listened to the recorded interviews several times checking for accuracy to what I had transcribed. Member checks were conducted as I emailed the transcribed interviews to each participant to make sure I captured their thoughts correctly and if not, changes were made. Additionally, I followed

up with participants to clarify certain response, making changes where needed. To help write an accurate report, I reflected over my field notes' journal, which I maintained for my own reflection to help identify any bias that I may have had as I collected data.

Discrepant cases were mentioned, and the findings were incorporated into my research results.

#### **Data Analysis Results**

First, each of the participants and I met at a location where they felt comfortable. Then, I introduced myself to the participant and explained the interview process. I used a hand-held voice recorder and took brief notes during the interviews to document nonverbal cues, such as body language, a laugh, or smile to better understand the information. The interview lasted approximately 20-40 minutes. Salient data were incorporated into my findings. After I transcribed the interviews, I sent them to the participants to be checked for accuracy. If no corrections were needed, they responded that everything was correct. If corrections were needed, then the participant responded with what they meant to say along with the interview question. Additionally, triangulation of the information was achieved through my literature, interviews, and field notes log by looking at past findings and understanding what the participants mentioned.

I interviewed five student-veterans who suffered from PTSD or TBIs and attended the community college. Additionally, I interviewed five faculty who teach at the community college. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2015), analysis is the process used to answer the research questions by identifying segments of the data that could help answer the research questions. To better understand the data, I transcribed, analyzed, and

coded it which eventually helped me developed themes that could helped answer the research questions (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). According to Saldana (2016), themes are recurring, extended phrases or sentences that describe segments of data. The themes that emerged from my data analysis were types of requested classroom accommodations, preferred college classroom accommodations of student-veterans with PTSD and TBIs, and faculty understanding of student-veterans in the classroom. These themes responded directly to the following research questions:

- 1. What are the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBI concerning classroom accommodations for their disability at one community college in Indiana?
- 2. What are the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBI at one community college?

Table 1
Student-Veterans Responses

Codes	Themes
Requested services	Types requested  Classroom accommodations
Symptoms of PTSD and TBI, presentations, mentor	Preferred college classroom accommodations of student-veterans with PTSD and TBI

## **Theme 1: Types of Requested Classroom Accommodations**

To determine if student-veterans knew about classroom accommodations, I asked the interview question, "What types of classroom accommodations do you know about?"

Although all five participants had a disability, not all of them received classroom accommodations.

Alpha said, "I don't need extra accommodations but there is available since my son's a military dependent he's getting the tutoring services and vocational rehabilitation." Alpha mentioned that he was soon to graduate with a nursing degree and had served 20 years in the military. Bravo and Charlie responded "none." When I followed up with their response to this question, Bravo said that he just did not know anything about classroom accommodations and Charlie responded that it was his choice to attend college and he did not need accommodations. Delta, who had served 7 years in the military and saw combat twice, provided the following response:

I receive extended time due to anxiety and panic attacks. I am allowed to get up after each section of the test. I am allowed to get up in the classroom and move around because of my back injury. I can't sit, stand, or lay down very long. They allow me to get up and move around pretty much as long as I am not distracting the class.

Echo said, "I know about longer test taking. You can get someone to take notes for you if you need help taking notes. You can get like a voice recorder."

Next, I asked the question "Are you aware of the process for requesting classroom accommodations?"

Alpha responded, "No because I really hadn't had too." Bravo replied, "ADA."

When I followed up to his response he said, "Disability services at school." Charlie stated

that he "knows how to get in touch with the advocate but that's about it." Delta replied, "Yes by emailing veteran services."

Echo responded that he was going through a medical professional to assist him with classroom accommodations, "Yes, through my psychiatric doctor. I am getting a psychiatric evaluation next week. We are going to use that to get something in writing saying I need help with school."

Next, I asked the question, "Have you ever asked for classroom accommodations?"

Alpha responded, "No, because I really hadn't had too." Bravo said, "No, because I did not need any." Charlie did not ask for accommodations but talked about a drill that was going to happen on campus that could trigger him causing the need for a classroom accommodation. This bothered Charlie because he had seen war and did not want to participate in an active shooter drill on campus that would bring back memories of war:

No, I do not know what would be available for someone like me, a guy with PTSD. I have no idea. I do not know how to accommodate someone in the classroom with PTSD. Like during an active shooter drill, I could not sit and pretend that someone is out there with a weapon.

Echo answered, "Not officially, but I have talked to the teachers about how I may have been experiencing certain issues and they work with me."

# Theme 2: Preferred Classroom Accommodations of Student-Veterans with Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Traumatic Brain Injuries

Student-veterans returned from wars with PTSD, memory problems, panic attacks, anxiety, TBIs, and memory problems. I asked the question, "Do you think that student-veterans require different classroom accommodations because of PTSD or TBI than non- student-veterans in the college classroom?"

#### Echo responded:

Yes, I believe so. I think PTSD or TBI can be experienced from anybody but when it comes to the military there can be certain experiences that regular student will never be able to relate too, and it may require certain or different accommodations. Like certain things in class cause them to relive the experiences. It brings them back to being overseas and it is a lot different to handle certain situations like that.

Alpha said the following:

Depending on the subjects. Because I know a lot of our what you call Military Occupations (MO's) don't cross over to college level. Especially in the medical field none of them ever crosses over. Smaller classrooms, I would think smaller classrooms because I get overwhelmed myself every now and then in the larger classroom. The instructors would have to know a little bit about what is going on with the students.

Bravo said, "Some of the ones that may have memory problems might" because "I have memory problems but so far have done well in college."

Charlie felt that it depended on the individual and said, "Because you are choosing to go college and if you don't like the situation you don't necessarily have to go."

Delta responded, "Honestly, I don't know. I have not been in class with another veteran or at least have identified themselves as a veteran. So, I have no idea."

Next, I asked the question, "What can faculty do to better accommodate your disability in the college classroom?"

Alpha said, "What I really like is their PowerPoints. If I'm able to read their Power Points, I don't have to take as many notes and a lot of their Power Points are the notes."

Charlie responded, "I really like the fact that our professor makes an outline of the lesson. Then he uploads it on the canvas (blackboard), so we can actually go back, look at it, and print it out to hang on too."

Bravo liked his hybrid Calculus class that's online. "We meet in the classroom but there are a lot of students that don't come to the classroom. They do their work at home and she records the lectures and put them online with lecture notes."

The last interview question was the following: "Is there anything else you would like to add?"

## Alpha replied:

I wouldn't mind having what you call big brother or what is it called? Someone to come along and check on u every so often to see what you are doing, yeah! A mentor program would be great. Now the only teacher I know that does it is Ms.

Blank who is a former Army veteran. She's teaches a lot of the math. Now, she was she was my mentor my first semester basically.

Charlie also did want to add something:

I would like to have a veteran representative at that building not 'hey can I email you and hopefully we can get together' I want a physical person I can go speak with because when I go to an Advisor and they deflect over to another person well the other person is not available to me. I think as a veteran I should receive the same services as another student. It's almost like, we are going to discriminate against our vets because we are not going to provide the same services as other students have. It's like, if they have advisors on campus but I don't.

Echo spoke highly of the community college:

I think that the community college does a really good job at taking care of the veterans and making the process and good as possible. I have met nothing but friendly staff that has helped me along the way and I have never had a bad experience.

Kato et al. (2016) noted that higher education needed to be prepared for more than 600,000 soldiers leaving the military and part of having student-veterans on campus is providing adequate accommodations for those who suffer from PTSD or TBI. One of the major findings from the interviews with regard to classroom accommodations was that student-veterans felt a need for an advisor or mentor to be on campus each day to address their needs, including classroom accommodations. Although all five of the student-veteran participants served in combat, most had not requested classroom accommodations because they either did not know accommodations were available or did

not feel they needed accommodations. Specifically, most did not know the different types of classroom accommodations available for those with PTSD or TBIs. Although the veteran service officer was not on campus every day, Delta mentioned that he contacted veteran services only by email, and others noted that they could email disability services. Having an advisor or mentor on campus who could meet in person with student-veterans would improve the likelihood that all student-veterans would be informed about the available services.

Another finding centered on the specific types of preferred accommodations reported by the participants, Knowles (1973) posited in one of his principles of adult learning, readiness to learn, that adult students are mature and ready to learn. The student-veteran participants demonstrated their readiness to learn with their enthusiasm for the types of classroom accommodations that would help them be successful. For example, student-veterans in this study preferred smaller classrooms, PowerPoint presentations with notes, and video recordings of classroom lectures. They also noted that professors were friendly and eager to assist them. As Heineman (2017) suggested, the community college has many instructors who are used to working with diverse populations with different needs. Allen (2016) and Languardia et al. (2017) also noted that faculty should apply their knowledge and understanding to help student-veterans overcome challenges in the classroom. Study participants did discuss several challenges, for example, memory problems, physical pain, and feelings of being overwhelmed in larger classes.

Young (2017) noted that faculty who had served in the military or have knowledge of the military help student-veterans feel welcomed in the classroom. Professor Peters, who is a former navy seal, mentioned applying a navy seal logo on his power point slides as a strategy to engage student-veterans. Additionally, Professor Paulson said, "I go around the room and ask. I thank them for their service, salute them, and shake their hand." Jenner (2017) noted that student-veterans who have a positive relationship with their professor may transition better than those student-veterans who do not. Knowles' principle of orientation to learning can be seen as Echo said, "The community college does a great job taking care of student-veterans. I have met nothing but friendly staff."

A discrepant finding was in response to the last question, "Is there anything else that you would like to add?" Charlie felt that he was being discriminated against by not having a veteran's advisor on campus like for other students. Boyd et al. (2019) noted that counselors, administrators, and advisors should be knowledgeable about student-veterans and their needs. Additionally, Durosko (2017) mentioned that student-veterans are unique communities that expect established procedures like in the military. Additionally, Charlie did not like the active shooter drill on campus because it triggered his PTSD. Bisson et al. (2015) and Diaz (2017) noted that PTSD is a mental health condition that student-veterans suffer from who have experienced traumatic events.

In the next section, I interviewed faculty. Table 2 introduces the theme that emerged.

Table 2

Faculty Responses

Codes	Theme
Notifications, classroom accommodations, experience, self-identifying	Faculty understanding of student-veterans in the classroom

# Theme 3: Faculty Understanding of Student-Veterans in the Classroom

I interviewed five faculty and began with the following question.

"How are you aware of student-veterans that require classroom accommodations?"

Professor Conley said the following:

If they require classroom accommodations due to disability, then they have met with the disability service person and have a form that the disability person creates for them that tells them what their disability accommodations are and then we just make those accommodations.

Professor Smith responded, "I imagine there would be some sort of relationship between our disability support services and our veteran's affairs representative."

Professor Anderson stated, "The only way that I would ever know if someone needed specific accommodations, they would go through disability services."

Professor Paulson said, "If they go through the accommodation process, I am given paperwork if they come to me and say they need accommodations I tell them they have to go to (name of person) and the accommodations officially."

Professor Peters is a veteran and provided the following response:

Basically, I go around the room and ask. Well it's my second power point slide. I have the Navy Seal on all. I salute them and shake their hands. I thank them for serving because when I returned to college after the Vietnam era, nobody cared.

The next question I asked the faculty was, "What type of classroom accommodations do you know about?"

Professor Conley stated, "I had a student with a tape recorder and my others have always been online students and so they get extra time to take quizzes."

Professor Anderson replied, "I do know that sometimes they may need extra time to do some of their work."

Professor Smith gave the following response:

Being allowed to take exams in quiet places through the testing center, given additional time for those exams, being allowed to record my lectures in class for later reference, and interpreters would sign making sure there are closed captions available, and transcription services available.

Professor Paulson responded:

So, depending what their issue may be. They can get extra time; they can get extra resources. Those are the official ones. Teaching what I do, I learned through a step that when I am going to do something that is somewhat startling I need to be mindful of those students because for example conditioning I made a lot of noise one time to get their attention and I had a veteran who I did not know was a veteran have an issue with it. He had PTSD so that was a good learning lesson for

me, that when I knew I needed to be mindful of making accommodations to make sure I don't startle people.

Professor Peters said the following:

Well, if they bring up anything to me or I basically offer anything to them. Some guys, I have had a couple that want to sit in the back row with their back up against the wall and they want to be able to see that door and most of them have seen combat. So, they are used to seeing the only way in and the only way out.

So, they prefer to sit with their backs against the wall in the back row.

Next, I asked the question, "What classroom accommodations have studentveteran asked of you?"

Professor Conley said, "Nothing specific of me. Well, if a student says it's not enough time for me to do this. I say if you don't have a qualified disability then you get the same time as anybody else."

Professor Paulson responded, "I don't think anyone has asked anything of me that they have not been told they are qualified for."

Professor Anderson replied, "I have not had any student-veterans ask for any accommodations."

Professor Smith responded, "Yes, oh yes, I have no trouble doing that at all." Professor Peters said, "I have not had anyone ask me for anything special."

Next, the faculty responded to this question, "Have you been able to provide the classroom accommodations requested by student-veterans?"

Professor Conley said, "Yes, no problem."

Professor Anderson gave a longer response:

Yes, a lot of these guys will come back. They are working full-time. They may not want to go through disability services. They might be having a hard time juggling and if that's the case, in which I do for all my students. I might reopen an assignment to work with their schedule.

Professor Paulson stated:

Yes, this is unique, but it speaks to it. I have had a couple of veteran students who said they have VA appointments that they need to get too. I know that it is hard to get and so I will help accommodate that.

Lastly, I asked each faculty participant if there was anything else, they would like to add.

Professor Conley said:

I don't know if a student is a veteran unless they tell me. Sometimes I can gage it by their mannerism. They behave a little differently, they speak differently. I am sure that I have some that have not come out and said anything.

Professor Saint replied, "I have worked with students that have been veterans from the military services and that I have tried to mentor them."

Professor Peters gave the following response:

I have had a couple that want to sit in the back row with their back up against the wall and they want to be able to see that door and most of them have seen combat. So, they are used to seeing the only way in and the only way out. So, they prefer to sit with their backs against the wall in the back row.

In summary, faculty participants are very busy with their duties at the college but made time to interview with me. One finding regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs was that if student-veterans did not self-identity it was hard for faculty to know if they were veterans or needed classroom accommodations. Student-veterans do not have to disclose their military background or disability. They are protected by the Americans with Disability Acts (Herman, 2020). Evans et al. (2015) noted perhaps student-veterans could be identified by having to self-identify in order to access any veteran services sites at the school.

Walter (2019) and Allen (2016) noted that faculty were not trained on the military environment or post-military experiences of student-veterans. Some faculty reported that they recognized student-veterans by their mannerisms and maturity. One faculty disclosed that she only knows of student-veterans returning from combat based upon what she hears from television. Faculty at the community college were willing to learn more about student-veterans and were very interested in being a part of my research. Even though they were faculty doing the teaching, they were also adult learners who exhibited Knowles (1973) readiness to learn because they wanted to know more about how to better serve student-veterans in their classroom. Professor Paulson admitted to having made a loud noise in the classroom that had startled a student-veteran and then explained that he should have been mindful of student-veterans with PTSD in the classroom.

From the interviews, I found that to provide classroom accommodations, faculty normally receive something in writing from disability services only when student-

veterans have sought assistant from that office. Professor Conley mentioned that student-veterans would meet with disability services that would provide them with a form describing their classroom accommodations. Professor Paulson said, "If they go through the accommodation process, I am given paperwork."

Gonzalez and Elliott (2016) suggested creating an environment where student-veterans are not afraid to admit their mental, physical, or learning challenges. In addition, Kranke et al., (2017) suggested instructors use lectures and discussions in the classroom to help student-veterans interact with other classmates. Professor Conley disclosed that he had a student-veteran with a tape recorder who got extra time during quizzes. Additionally, Professor Smith mentioned that transcription, closed caption, and interpreter services were available as classroom accommodations. Additionally, student-veterans should be given the option of leaving the classroom when showing video clips of loud gunfire and noise.

Professional development training with faculty could help them to understand what student-veterans may experience in the college classroom after serving in the wars. Berg (2016) noted that student-veterans could re-live events that happened in the war triggering the flight or fight response. Davidson and Northwest (2017) mentioned creating an experiential learning environment by adding visual, audio aids. Additionally, Davidson and Northwest (2017) mentioned having assignments due in smaller sections reducing stress on student-veterans. Faculty could also learn about different classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD and TBIs. The three-day training would consist of examining the results of the study and possible classroom accommodations.

In Section 3 I present the purpose, rationale, literature review, and three-day faculty development program.

#### Section 3: The Project

#### Introduction

I explored the perceptions of faculty and student-veterans concerning classroom accommodations for this population who may have combat-related issues, such as PTSD or TBIs. Based on the study results, I created a faculty development training for the study site, which includes PowerPoint presentations, videos, active learning activities, and group discussions. The project includes a 3-day faculty development training beginning with the presentation of my research findings. The 3-day training allows faculty time to reflect on their learning. Every day the participants sign in and are given an agenda that outlines the training day. On the first and last days of training the participants complete pretraining and posttraining surveys to help assess their knowledge regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans. The purpose of this project is to present a 3-day professional development training on the findings of my research at the study site. My goal is to increase faculty awareness that student-veterans may require certain classroom accommodations. Learning objectives will be defined each day of training based on the learning content presented. Training participants will be assessed with learning activities, group discussions, and questions and answers. My target audience is the staff and faculty at the community college who have direct contact with student-veterans. Through community outreach, faculty and staff may pass the information on to others.

#### Rationale

Based on the results of this study, I present my research findings to assist faculty with their perceptions of accommodating student-veterans with PTSD and TBIs in the

college classroom. Student-veterans reported they were unaware of specific classroom accommodations available to them because of their PTSD or TBI, but they understood that classroom accommodations were available through disability services. Additionally, student-veterans wanted a person present on campus who could assist them face-to-face rather than being available only by email. Further, faculty reported that they did not know if a student was a veteran unless the student informed them directly. Additionally, faculty admitted to lacking knowledge about student-veterans except what they had heard in the media.

During the 3-day professional development training, the faculty will interact with each other through while participating in active learning activities. This training will help faculty understand student-veterans and their military culture and possibly understand how to retain this student population (Kranke et al., 2017). Additionally, this training will accommodate student-veterans. If faculty are trained, student-veterans may be more comfortable disclosing their disability without feeling stigmatized and may be able to more easily access available classroom accommodations (Jenner, 2017; Kranke et al., 2017). Additionally, faculty will understand the disconnect student-veterans feel when transitioning from the military to the college classroom with their psychological and physical combat injuries (Young, 2017).

#### **Review of the Literature**

I searched Google Scholar and the Walden Library on scholarly literature pertaining to faculty development trainings within the last 5 years while selecting all databases, and peer reviewed articles. I conducted the search with the following terms:

three-day faculty development trainings, faculty development, trainings for college faculty, faculty development trainings on student-veterans, faculty development in the community college, and training for faculty.

# **Faculty Development**

Faculty development is defined as structured learning that improves teaching, student learning, research, managerial and administration duties, development of resource material, and facilitation for active and student-centered learning (Abdulghani et al., 2015; Hammond, 2016). Trainings can range from conferences to informal discussions; successful trainings allow the participant's time to reflect and assess desired outcomes (Abdulghani et al., 2015). Faculty development needs arise to address a problem or to improve something (Al Karim, 2019). Therefore, the purpose of faculty development is to address a gap in what faculty know and what they should learn (Al Karim, 2019).

According to Al Karim (2019) and Beach, Sorcinelli, Austin, and Rivard (2016), administrators must create systems that are efficient and competitive because of funding, technology advancement, professors teaching past retirement years, globalization, politics, and economic environments. Additionally, Beach et al. (2016) noted that faculty development should include faculty orientations, technology integration, and active pedagogical approaches with hands-on workshops, individual consultations, and webbased resources. While, Elliott, Rhoades, Jackson, and Mandernach (2015) agreed that funding is important, two other initiatives were equally important: the format (panel discussions, workshops, face to face, synchronous and asynchronous) and the programming focus (flipped classroom, informative thinking, and new faculty).

Higher education is encouraged to have faculty development training with performance-based blended instruction that includes part-time staff who may have scheduling conflicts and not be given the same resources as full-time faculty (Morris & Hayashi, 2019; Wynants & Dennis, 2018). Performance-based blended instruction includes video-based lectures that are online, flipped classrooms, and massive open online courses with the benefits of working at one's own pace, time for rewatching videos, and more time in the classroom for face-to-face discussions, activities, critical thinking, peer interactions, and performance assessment (King, Mayer, Barrie, Greenberger, & Way, 2018; Morris & Hayashi, 2019).

To be effective, faculty development should "address the principles and practices of teaching at the individual, departmental, curricular, and institutional levels" (Elliott, Rhoades, Jackson, & Mandernach, 2015, p. 2), and if the training is flexible, faculty will be more encouraged to attend. Paskevicius and Bortolin (2016) agreed that faculty development formats should be flexible and at least 2 to 3 days to allow time for reflection, follow up, and discussions centered on better future training. Hammond (2016) added that effective professional development content should focus on teaching strategies that incorporate active learning and collaboration with the goals of creating an excellent teaching culture, advancing new teaching and learning initiatives, and responding to individual faculty goals (Jeppesen & Joyce, 2018). Additionally, faculty can continue to gain knowledge through experience, observations, peer coaching, learner feedback, and online, experiential, and workplace learning (Steinert et al., 2016). Wynants and Dennis

(2018) noted that interactive approaches are important because they connect real-life experiences to what is being taught.

Faculty may not know how to use these diverse teaching methods because of often working alone and focusing on traditional teaching practices like lectures and reading while failing to incorporate new technology (Wynants & Dennis, 2018).

According to Cottrell (2019), faculty know the importance of incorporating technology but are unsure of how to incorporate it into their course. Laptops are common technology tools that are often used in higher education for interactive learning, especially because they are "portable, popular and offer the opportunity for inclusive and differentiated learning" (Deveci, Dalton, Hassan, Amer, & Cubero, 2018, p. 1). Additionally, with the advancement of the video game industry, Serious Games, an interactive simulation, is being used to facilitate faculty development trainings (Boudreaux, 2018). Murdoch University encouraged learners to download lectures to their MP3 players and listen to them from wherever they are without being bound to a computer (Brabazon, 2019). Ippoliti (2019) noted that librarians are important to faculty development because they offer consultation on theoretical approaches and integrating digital pedagogy.

According to Boudreaux (2018), the genre of professional development has evolved into five stages of faculty development: (a) the age of the scholar (1950-1960s), (b) the age of the teachers (1960-1970s), (c) the age of the developer (1980s), (d) the age of the learner, and (e) the age of the network (2000s). The age of the scholar (1950-1960s) consisted of social and economic conflicts like the women's rights and civil rights movements which led to students' demanding the right to give feedback on what they felt

was beneficial, boring, or irrelevant to their learning (Boudreaux, 2018). Additionally, during this era research and publications were used to improve teaching skills while considering theories of practice (Boudreaux, 2018). The age of the teachers (1960-1970s) was the beginning of faculty development when faculty wanted more than research to rely on, including trainings consisting of workshops and teaching and learning centers (Boudreaux, 2018). During the age of the developers (1980s), faculty developments started to emerge on campus and the scholarship of teaching and learning expanded (Boudreaux, 2018). Then, the learner era (1990s) shifted to focus more on student learning and pedagogies. Lastly, the age of the network (2000s) incorporated advanced technology to stimulate learning (Boudreaux, 2018). Al-Eraky, Donkers, Wajid, and Van Merrienboer (2015) noted situated learning theory as the best faculty development training approach when teaching faculty about professional and unprofessional behavior. Additionally, situated learning theory includes the use of vignettes and scenarios to help facilitate trainings (Al-Eraky et al., 2015).

Faculty developments can be grouped into three larger categories: (a) theoretical initiatives exploring trends in higher education, (b) applied programming which emphasizes practical teaching strategies and (c) institutional initiatives highlighting university policies, procedures, guidelines, and expectations (Elliott et al., 2015). Murthy, Iyer and Warriem (2015) noted the attain-align-integrate (A2I) model, which uses the constructivist theoretical approach to develop short term trainings for student-centered learning which give the preferred design, goals, and timeline of activities for the participants. Additionally, this model has been helpful in redesigning courses which

encourages the participants to think deeply along with learning activities and evaluations that are aligned with learning outcomes (Murthy et al., 2015). Murthy et al., (2015) described two key components of the constructivist model: (a) the spiral curriculum which is achieved when participants revisit the information to look at it from different perspectives and (b) active learning which is achieved when participants engage and learn from useful strategies that they can use in the classroom. Additionally, social constructivist theory noted self-reflection as an important goal of faculty development and a much-needed skill that uses "emotional engagement when examining and questioning personal beliefs, values, stepping out of your comfort zone and improving teaching and learning" (Foong, Nor, & Nolan, 2018, p. 2). For example, a faculty member noted that she had gotten into the habit of jotting down notes in a notebook every day to ponder over what went well and what did not so that she could make changes to teaching and learning styles (Jeppesen, & Joyce, 2018). In addition, transformative learning occurs when the person changes their beliefs based upon new learned knowledge (Jeppesen, & Joyce, 2018).

The community of practice framework was "developed for online learning and has its roots in transactional communication and social constructivism theory" (Paskevicius & Bortolin, 2016, p.7). Additionally, Paskevicius and Bortolin (2016) used the communities of practice concept to design a blended faculty development program which was nine months long and started with a two-day face- to-face workshop consisting of presentations, group discussions, team exercises, and a student-feedback panel with professors. Faculty continued to meet face to face every two months then

online the other months creating blogs, videos, and collaborative documents which spiraled towards being able to discuss and share when meeting Face-to-face (Paskevicius & Bortolin, 2016). According to Bessette and Bennett (2019), by investing resources in training the effects will last a long time throughout the educational culture. Additionally, Holland (2019) noted that since faculty are highly educated, they should work towards applying what they have learned to make society a better place to live and by being key stake holders in any evaluation, planning, and implementation of teaching and learning initiatives" (Ippoliti, 2019, p. 5).

Knowles' principles of adult learning (1973) regarding changes in self-concept, role of experience, readiness to learn, and orientation to learning can continue to be developed through faculty development trainings incorporating active learning, reflection, lectures, videos, discussion, and surveys. According to Bessette and Bennett (2019), a mentor and mentee have needs that can be developed through trainings.

Additionally, peer development learning activities where individuals learn from each other are very effective trainings (Holland, 2019). Walters, Grover, Turner, and Alexander (2017) noted the principles of adult learning along with pre-planning, planning, delivery, and follow-up as the principles of faculty development that recognize faculty member's experiences and are designed to support training. Knowles' principles of orientation to learning and readiness to learn can be developed through mentoring with the mentor and mentee continuing to learn from different types of trainings (Bessette & Bennett, 2019). Then Kees, Risk, Meadowbrooke, Nellett, and Spinner (2017) mentioned

that peer programs help by keeping student-veterans from stressing as much in areas of wellness and mental health.

Based upon the results of my study I incorporated the concept of situational learning theory in my 3-day faculty development training by incorporating four vignettes for learning purposes. Additionally, I will include the constructivist approach which consists of learning outcomes, evaluations, timelines, and active learning to engage participants. According to Miller, Dickson, and Koch (2019), there may be faculty who enter the profession not understanding how to teach and possibly not understanding how to help students until they are trained through faculty development. In conclusion, faculty development trainings can encourage researchers to continue to research the largely understudied population of student veterans and change their perception of student-veterans who are often portrayed as substance use abusers, homeless, aggressive, emotionally unstable, and having mental health issues (Morales, Narayan, & Atienza, 2019).

## **Project Description**

The resources needed to present my project will be a classroom with an overhead projector, projector screen, laptop or desktop, chairs, tables, podium, microphone, and proper lighting. Existing supports are from staff in the computer technology department who can assist by making sure my equipment is available and working. The custodial department can assist by having the room presentable with tables, chairs, and lighting. Every day of the training, I will arrive early to test my audio, visual, and computer equipment. If there are any issues, I will have time to correct it before the training.

Additionally, each training day faculty will sign in for accountability and complete a training evaluation to critique the training day. On the first day, faculty will complete a pre-survey to find out what they already know about accommodating student-veteran with PTSD/TBI. In addition, I will present the learning outcomes and provide an agenda for the day. Further, I will present a PowerPoint on the findings of my study and allow participants to ask questions. One the second training day, I will recap day one and present the learning objectives. The agenda for day two will consist of learning activities and group discussions. At the end of the training day faculty will complete a training evaluation for day two. On day three, I will recap day two and present the learning objectives for day three. The training day will consist of active learnings activities and discussions of the last three days of training. I will present certificates of appreciation to attendees and posttraining surveys their understanding after attending the 3-day training. Lastly, I will present day three training evaluations and thank participants for attending.

A potential barrier to the success of the project could be if faculty are not open to considering expanding their belief systems (Tomkin, Beilstein, Morphew, & Herman, 2019) with regard to accommodating student-veterans by extending assignment deadlines, uploading recorded lectures, or being available outside of normal classroom times. In addition, Tomkin et al. (2019) noted that faculties normally like to maintain their traditional way of classroom instruction, so change may be unwelcomed at times. However, quotes from the student-veteran participants should help faculty understand that change is needed to create more inclusive classrooms. Then, if faculty are to

incorporate additional classroom accommodations into their syllabus, their studentevaluations may eventually reflect an improved learning environment.

Another potential barrier could be scheduling the training. Once my doctoral study is approved, I will provide a copy of my study to the president of the community college within 60 days by asking to present my faculty development project on campuses throughout Northwest Indiana over approximately 12 months. In addition, I will ask permission to meet with the head administrators of each campus for permission to work with the training departments to coordinate dates, times, and delivery of each faculty development training.

# **Project Evaluation Plan**

According to Buelin, Ernst, Kelly, and DeLuca (2019), formative assessments take many familiar forms such as "hand signals like thumbs up/down, exit tickets that students complete before leaving class, one-word or one-sentence summaries of lesson content, think/pair/share activities, journal responses, and quizzes" (p.1). Therefore, I will use formative assessments of pre-training surveys, post training surveys, and training evaluation forms each day of training with space provided for improved recommendations, strengths of the training, and additional comments. Additionally, throughout the training there will be active learning sessions where individuals will collaborate and learn from each other. I have designed the forms so that participants will only have to provide feedback or check a box. The success of the faculty development will be evaluated each day of the three-day training. A professional development training timeline will show the proposed activities, resources, and daily topics. Additionally,

faculty will sign in each day noting the department they work. Each day, there are objectives, desired outcomes, and an agenda with timelines. The pre- and posttraining evaluations will access what faculty knew before the 3-day trainings and if they better understand after the trainings. Further, each day, faculty will provide feedback on the trainer's knowledge and whether the training is informative and easy to understand. Additionally, faculty will provide feedback on how they feel they will be able to apply what they have learned. Further, faculty will provide feedback on the training atmosphere, audio, and visual PowerPoint. Changes will be made to the training according to the feedback.

# **Project Implications**

During the interviews, students-veteran participants mentioned not knowing any other student-veterans. They also mentioned not knowing of classroom accommodations that were available. In addition, a student veteran mentioned having to email the veterans service representative who was only on campus certain days of the week. One possible social change could be to have a veteran service representative on campus every day to assist student-veterans on campus and to create activities on campus for student-veterans. This could help faculty identify some student-veterans because they mentioned no even knowing if a student was a veteran. According to Kees et al. (2017), peer programs help student-veterans transition better to college by having other student-veterans link them to resources and people who have similar experiences. Additionally, Kees et al. (2017) noted that in some ways peer programs sort of mimic military culture by "creating camaraderie, the buddy system, structure, and a sense of belonging" (p. 2) Another

possible social change could be counselors and faculty working together to develop more classroom accommodations. Since faculty admitted to not knowing much about student-veterans except what they heard on social media pertaining to PTSD, and TBIs, additional faculty development sessions on accommodating student-veterans in the classroom could be implemented, which could eventually lead to the social change of faculty being more knowledgeable about the student-veteran population.

The importance of the project to local stakeholders is that the college will have the opportunity to become better prepared to accommodate and retain student-veterans who have seen combat or experienced trauma from the war. According to Kranke et al. (2017), the retention rate is 65% compared to 76% for nonveteran students. Additionally, \$10 billion dollars has been devoted towards the post-9/11 GI Bill for student-veterans with over more than 5 million veterans using their benefits by 2020 (Kranke et al., 2017). Furthermore, Kranke et al. (2017) noted the retention of this population is important to help student-veterans succeed in civilian life, especially since they are non-traditional learners which may affect their engagement (Kees et al., 2017). I can help faculty by presenting a three-day training to explore accommodations for student-veterans. Additionally, I am willing to be a part of campus projects involving student-veterans and future research.

#### Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

This section provides a description of the strengths and limitations of the faculty development. I also include discussion of optional approaches to address the gap in accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or a TBI. Additionally, I present recommendations for alternative approaches to the problem, along with my personal reflections as a project developer and a scholar. Finally, I provide reflections on the significance of the study, implications, and potential directions for future research.

## **Project Strengths and Limitations**

I will share the results of my study during the faculty development training, and the faculty will better understand what student-veterans at the study site need for classroom accommodations. Additionally, a part of my project will focus on PTSD/TBI among student-veterans. My project will increase faculty awareness of student-veterans on campus so that faculty will be better prepared to assist them. The 3-day training creates a safe atmosphere for learning, sharing opinions, beliefs, attitudes, emotional reactions, and learning from experience (Almeida et al., 2019). In addition, the training encourages adjuncts and faculty to continue to participate in workplace professional development where experiential learning occurs (Sherman & Chappell, 2018).

A limitation of my study is that all faculty and student-veteran participants were all Caucasian and did not represent the diversity of the community college. Additionally, only male student-veterans participated in the study. Furthermore, the training is only 3 days and faculty may need more training on classroom accommodations.

#### **Recommendations for Alternative Approaches**

According to Almeida et al. (2019), it is important for faculty to be able to facilitate learning to all students to ensure a quality education. An alternative approach to ongoing training is that certain faculty members can be trained as faculty development facilitators, encouraging workplace professional development with trainings facilitated in small groups with flexible times. A qualitative research design that focuses on the perspective of female student-veterans sharing their experiences may also help identify additional classroom accommodations. A mixed-method approach using interviews and surveys could help determine if faculty who have served in the military have knowledge of practical classroom accommodations that could be implemented in the classroom. A quantitative study might also measure the enrollment of student-veterans and what classroom accommodations they need.

# Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change Scholarship

My study has made me a better scholar and has increased my understanding of the importance of research and interviewing individuals to understand their perceptions.

Additionally, conducting this study has made me think about my future goals of serving in the ministry and teaching in colleges. My children supported me by understanding that my research means a lot to me.

I chose this research topic because I have served in the military and was deployed with my guard unit for one tour in Mosul, Iraq. When I returned home, I continued my education at Purdue University as a student-veteran while having issues with anxiety and

PTSD. Although I lost my dad during my journey, I did not stop. There were times when I felt like quitting but reminded myself of why I started. Completing my Ed.D. has been hard work, but I have learned to endure. Although it has taken 5 years, I am confident that I will graduate.

# **Project Development**

I learned so much about conducting research on my own. First, it is very time consuming and I had to study every step of the way. I was so afraid of the literature review until I studied different literature reviews until I understood better how to do it. The theory of adult learning applies to student-veterans as they transition from the military into the community college to continue learning and graduate. This theory can also be applied to faculty as they continue learning by faculty development training to increase their knowledge of accommodating student-veterans and by changing the way they perceive this population. The study site responded promptly to my request to conduct my research on the campus. The gate keeper was enthused to assist me, especially since we both served in combat. My qualitative case study required recruitment and interviewing of 10 participants whom I waited to respond back through email. It was during the holiday seasons, so participants were slow to respond. Being a single mom, professional, and doctoral candidate, I found it time consuming passing out fliers and interviewing participants on campus. Transcribing the interviews was not that hard but time consuming because I had to listen over and over to write out the content accurately. While I conducted my research, I continued to read, analyze, and revise. Coding my data required me to buy Saldana coding manual to better understand the

process and Seidman's book on qualitative interviewing. I have learned how to interview, transcribe, and recruit participants which is beneficial for my future in research and writing.

# **Leadership and Change**

I will be a voice for student-veterans by helping to create change concerning classroom accommodations and I would like my research to inspire other faculty who have served in the military to work closely with the student-veteran population.

Additionally, I would like to work with other researchers on student-veterans related issues and scholarly writings. Other faculty may perhaps build upon my findings by deciding to pursue their doctoral goals. Additionally, I would like to mentor Walden doctoral candidates to finish their projects. Hopefully, more student-veterans enrolling in the community college will see advisors on campus. Additionally, faculty development trainings will focus on student-veterans and include adjunct and part-time staff.

#### **Reflection on Importance of the Work**

I am very excited that my work contributes to the body of knowledge on addressing classroom accommodations for student-veterans. My study is important to the field of education because student-veterans have educational benefits that they are using in the community college. Additionally, student-veterans come from diverse backgrounds and choose the community college for its flexibility. Faculty will need to know more about this population returning from combat with PTSD and TBIs. My study contributes because of the voices of faculty and student-veterans on campus who were interviewed. Additionally, the results from my study can help create changes that are beneficial for

student-veterans and faculty. The enrollment of student-veterans may increase as faculty and student-veterans interact at the community college. Student-veterans may disclose their military status when there is more campus involvement. The importance of my work to student-veterans is that I am a voice for what matter most on campus for them.

Additionally, as a student-veteran who served in combat, I am obligated to help.

#### Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

There may be resistance to change but with on-going training, faculty may be comfortable implementing classroom accommodations to student-veterans, which may also draw other student-veterans to disclose and request accommodations when they see this actively being deployed in the classroom. The results of my study can be used to better staff and assist student-veterans in the community college. Faculty can be encouraged to read my study and pass the information along to student-veterans on campus. Directions for future research may include adjunct faculty because they will have to make accommodations for student-veterans too. Campus leaders can encourage continued research. As a result, campus life will be better for student-veterans with services and classroom accommodations available to them. Kranke et al. (2017) mentioned that "we can't make every student-veteran disclose their disability, but we can make their transition smooth" (p. 4).

#### **Conclusion**

In this study I explored the perceptions of student-veterans and faculty on classroom accommodations for individuals who have PTSD or TBIs. The problem was identified at the local and broader level with literature to support it. Additionally, the

significance of my research was identified. I presented two research questions: (a) What are the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs concerning classroom accommodations for their disability at one community college in Indiana? (b) What are the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBIs at one community college in Indiana? Then I attempted to answer the questions by conducting a basic qualitative study in which I interviewed faculty and student-veterans at the study site. The results of this study revealed in part that not all student-veterans knew about classroom accommodations. However, the student-veterans did express a need for a designated person on campus and mentors. I presented my research findings with a 3-day faculty development training with active learning, group discussions, power points, and lectures so that that the community college would better understand the importance of classroom accommodations and act to improve ways in which information about accommodations was disseminated, perhaps through the addition of a campus mentor. Although not all student-veterans have been exposed to wars, those who have will continue to live with the trauma. With my study, I wanted to salute those student-veterans with PTSD and TBIs by conducting a study which gave them a voice to share their perceptions about their college experiences.

#### References

- Abdulghani, H. M., Ahmad, F., Irshad, M., Khalil, M. S., Al-Shaikh, G. K., Syed, S., & Haque, S. (2015). Faculty development programs improve the quality of multiple-choice questions items' writing. *Scientific Reports*, *5*, 9556. doi: 10.1038/srep09556.
- Albright, D. L., Thomas, K. H., McDaniel, J., Fletcher, K. L., Godfrey, K., Bertram, J., & Angel, C. (2019). When women veterans return: The role of postsecondary education in transition in their civilian lives. *Journal of American College Health*, 67(5), 479–485. doi:10.1080/07448481.2018.1494599.
- Al-Eraky, M. M., Donkers, J., Wajid, G., & Van Merrienboer, J. J. (2015). Faculty development for learning and teaching of medical professionalism. *Medical Teacher*, *37*(sup1), S40–S46. doi:10.3109/0142159x.2015.1006604.
- Al Karim, R. (2019). Impact of different training and development programs on employee performance in Bangladesh perspective. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Research*, 1(2), 8–14. doi:10.31580/ijer.vli2.497.
- Allen, D. W. (2016). What makes a veteran-friendly college or university campus?

  (Doctoral dissertation, Hamline University). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse\_all/4226/.
- Almeida, M. T. C., Maia, F. A., Hoffman, E. J., Barbosa, A. T. F., Sampaio, C. A., Ramos, L. G. D., & Rodrigues Neto, J. F. (2019). Faculty development: Social representations constructed by medical school teachers. *Brazilian Journal of Medical Education/Revista Brasileira de Educação Médica*, 43(2), 176–186.

- doi:10.1590/1981-52712015v43n2rb20180101ingles.
- Arditte Hall, K. A., Davison, E. H., Galovski, T. E., Vasterling, J. J., & Pineles, S. L. (2019). Associations between trauma-related rumination and symptoms of posttraumatic stress and depression in treatment seeking female veterans. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 32(2), 260–268. doi:10.1002/jts.22385.
- Beach, A. L., Sorcinelli, M. D., Austin, A. E., & Rivard, J. K. (2016). Faculty development in the age of evidence: Current practices, future imperatives.

  Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.
- Berg, P. E. (2016). An exploratory case study of the effects of gender related combat stress on adult learning in a military academic environment (Doctoral dissertation, Kansas State University). Retrieved from https://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/handle/2097/34476.
- Bessette, H. J., & Bennett, K. (2019). Supporting high quality teacher preparation:

  Developing a mentoring program for new and early career special education faculty. *The Advocate*, 24(1), 2. doi:10.4148/2637-4552.1124.
- Bisson, J. I., Cosgrove, S., Lewis, C., & Robert, N. P. (2015). Post-traumatic stress disorder. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, *351*, h616. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h6161.
- Blaauw-Hara, M. (2017). "Learning shock" and student veterans: Bridging the learning environments of the military and the academy. In *Composition Forum* (35).

  Retrieved from https://compositionforum.com/.
- Bodrog, B., Gloria, A., & Brockberg, D. (2018). The effects of mattering and combat

- deployment on student service members/veterans' college adjustment: A psych sociocultural approach. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, *3*(2), 109–125. doi:10.21061/jvs.v3i2.73.
- Bogdan, R., & Biklen, S. (2007). *Qualitative research for education. An introduction to theory and practice* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson Education.
- Boudreaux, K. (2018). Serious games for training and faculty development: A review of the current literature. *Journal of Educators Online*, 15(2). doi:10.9743/jeo.2018.15.2.5.
- Boyd, C. D., Slate, J. R., & Barnes, W. (2019). Differences in the perception of educational benefits between male and female veterans in the United States: A national study. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Sciences*, *3*(1). Retrieved from https://journalofinterdisciplinarysciences.com/.
- Brabazon, T. (2019). Socrates in earpods? The ipodification of education. *Fast Capitalism*, 2(1). doi:10.32855/fcapital.200601.009.
- Brown, D. (2015). Study site faculty convene for largest summit in college's history.

  Study Site News. Retrieved from https://news.studysite.edu/2015/08/20/study-site-community-college-faculty-convene-for-largest-summit-in-colleges-history./
- Buelin, J., Ernst, J. V., Kelly, D. P., & DeLuca, V. W. (2019). Formative evaluation techniques. *Technology and Engineering Teacher*, 78(5), 21–23. Retrieved from https://www.iteea.org/Publications/Journals/TET.aspx.
- Chen, J. A., Owens, M. D., Browne, K. C., & Williams, E. C. (2018). Alcohol-related and mental health care for patients with unhealthy alcohol use and posttraumatic

- stress disorder in a National Veterans Affairs cohort. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 85, 1-9. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2017.11.007.
- Cofield, C. S. (2019). Factors contributing to military-veteran student success (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). Retrieved from https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/6544/.
- Cottrell, J. R. (2019). Teaching students to evaluate web sources more critically:

  Implications from a faculty workshop. *College & Research Libraries News*,

  62(2), 141–186. doi:10.5860/crln.62.2.141.
- Creswell, C. J. (2012). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Davidson, S., & Northwest, E. (2017). Trauma-informed practices for postsecondary education: A guide. *Education Northwest*. Retrieved from https://educationnorthwest.org/resources/trauma-informed-practices-postsecondary-education-guide.
- DeBeer, B. B., Kittel, J. A., Cook, A., Davidson, D., Kimbrel, N. A., Meyer, E. C., & Morissette, S. B. (2016). Predicting suicide risk in trauma exposed veterans: The role of health promoting behaviors. *PLoS One*, *11*(12), e0167464. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0167464.
- Deveci, T., Dalton, D., Hassan, A., Amer, S. T., & Cubero, S. (2018). Project-X: An initiative to increase student engagement through laptops. *Contemporary*

- Educational Technology, 9(1), 1–21. doi:10.30935/cedtech/6208.
- Diaz, J. (2017). From caution to college: The effects on veterans with self-reported trauma symptoms sharing their experiences with the campus community. *McNair Research Journal SJSU*, 13(1), 6. Retrieved from https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/mcnair/.
- Durosko, H. (2017). Five ways to support veteran transfer students. *Journal of College Admissions*, (235), 42-43. doi: 122638735.
- Elliott, M., Rhoades, N., Jackson, C. M., & Mandernach, B. J. (2015). Professional development: Designing initiatives to meet the needs of online faculty. *Journal of Educators Online*, 12(1), n.1. Retrieved from https://doaj.org/article/1519e8d54d4642409fa076d5a8436504.
- Evans, J. J., Pellegrino, L., & Hoggan, C. (2015). Supporting veterans at the community college: A review of the literature. *Community College Enterprise*, *21*(1), 47-65. Retrieved from http://www.schoolcraft.edu/cce/21.1.47-65.pdf.
- Fernandez, F., Merson, D., Ro, H. K., & Rankin, S. (2019). Do classroom interactions relate to considerations of institutional departure among student veterans and service members? *Innovative Higher Education*, *44*(3), 233-245. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10755-019-9460-8.
- Foong, L. Y., Nor, M. B. M., & Nolan, A. (2018). The influence of practicum supervisors' facilitation styles on student teachers' reflective thinking during collective reflection. *Reflective Practice*, 19(2), 225-242. doi: 10.1080/14623943.2018.1437406.

- Gonzalez, C. A., & Elliott, M. (2016). Faculty attitudes and behaviors towards student veterans. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 29(1), 35-46.

  Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1107471.
- Gordon, H. R. D., Schneiter, H., Bryant, R., Winn, V., Burke, V. C., & Johnson, T. (2016). Staff members' perceptions of student veterans' transition at a public two-year and four-year institution. Educational Research: *Theory & Practice*, 28(1), 1 14. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1252603.
- Griffin, K. A., & Gilbert, C. K. (2015). Better transitions for troops: An application of Schlossberg's transition framework to analyses of barriers and institutional support structures for student veterans. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 86(1), 71-97. doi:10.1353/jhe.2015.0004.
- Hammond, S. P. (2016). Complex perceptions of identity: The experiences of student combat veterans in community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(2), 146-159. doi: 10.1080/10668926.2015.1017891.
- Heineman, J. A. (2017). From boots to suits: Women veterans transitioning to community college students. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 2017(179), 77-88. doi: doi.org/10.1002/cc.20264.
- Herman, L. (2020). Review: Writing programs, veteran studies, and the Post-9/11University: A field guide. *Journal of Veteran Studies*, *6*(1), pp. 226-229. doi:10.21061/jvs.v6i1.179.
- Holland, B. (2019). Factors and strategies that influence faculty involvement in public service. *Journal of Public Service and Outreach*, *4*(1), 37-43.

- Ippoliti, C. (2019). Digital faculty development. *Information Technology & Libraries*, 38(2), 5–7. doi:10.6017/ital. v38i2.11091.
- Jenner, B. M. (2017). Student veterans and the transition to higher education: Integrating existing literatures. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 2(2), 26-44. Retrieved from https://journal-veterans-studies.org/articles/10.21061/jvs.
- Jeppesen, A. & Joyce, B. (2018). Challenges and successes: Faculty reflections on a college teaching development program. *Collected Essays on Learning and Teaching*. 11. doi: 22329/celt. v11i0.4972.
- Jones, K. C. (2016). Understanding transition experiences of combat veterans attending community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, doi: 10.1080/10668926.2016.1163298.
- Karp, M. M., & Klempin, S. (2016). Supporting military veteran students: Early lessons from Kohlberg prize recipients. Community College Research Center, Teachers College, Columbia University. Retrieved from <a href="https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED570701">https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED570701</a>.
- Kato, L., Jinkerson, J. D., Holland, S. C., & Soper, H. V. (2016). From combat zones to the classroom: Transitional adjustment in OEF/OIF student veterans. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(11), 2131.
- Kees, M., Risk, B., Meadowbrooke, C., Nellett, T., & Spinner, J. (2017). Peer advisors for veteran education (PAVE): Implementing a sustainable peer support program for student veterans on college campuses. *Metropolitan Universities*, 28(3), 30-49. doi: 10. 18060/21541.

- King, A. M., Mayer, C., Barrie, M., Greenberger, S., & Way, D. P. (2018). Replacing lectures with small groups: The impact of flipping the residency conference day.
  Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 19(1), 11. doi: 10.5811.
- Kinney, A. R., & Eakman, A. M. (2017). Measuring self-advocacy skills among student veterans with disabilities: Implications for success in postsecondary education.

  \*Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability, 30(4), 343-35. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1172799.
- Kirchner, M. J. (2015). Supporting student veteran transition to college and academic success. *Adult Learning*, 26(3), 116-123. doi: 10.1177/1045159515583813.
- Knowles, M. (1973). The adult learner: A neglected species. American society for training and development. Houston, Texas: Gulf Publishing Company.
- Kranke, D. A., Weiss, E. L., & Brown, J. C. (2017). Student veterans with invisible disabilities: accommodation-seeking in higher education. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 2(2). Retrieve from https://journal-veterans-studies.org/articles/10.21061/jvs.
- Laguardia, F., Michalsen, V., & Rider-Milkovich, H. (2017). Trigger warnings. *Journal of Legal Education*, 66(4), 882-903. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/26453524.
- LeMire, S., Graves, S. J., & Medlin, Z. C. (2018). Be all that you can be: Targeting library orientations to military cadets. *Planning Library Orientations*, 205-211. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-102171-2.00021-0.
- Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). Methods in educational

- research: From theory to practice. (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Mac Donald, C. L., Barber, J., Jordan, M., Johnson, A. M., Dikmen, S., Fann, J. R., & Temkin, N. (2017). Early clinical predictors of 5-year outcome after concussive blast traumatic brain injury. *JAMA neurology*, 74(7), 821-829. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.0143.
- MacManus, D., Rona, R., Dickson, H., Somaini, G., Fear, N., & Wessely, S. (2015).

  Aggressive and violent behavior among military personnel deployed to Iraq and Afghanistan: Prevalence and link with deployment and combat exposure.

  Epidemiologic reviews, 37(1), 196-212. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxu006.
- Maiocco, G., & Smith, M. J. (2016). The Experience of women veterans coming back from war. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 30(3), 393-399. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2016.01.008.
- Mankowski, M., & Everett, J. E. (2016). Women service members, veterans, and their families: *What we know now. Nurse Education Today*. 47, 23-28. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2015.12.017.
- Martindale, S. L., Morissette, S. B., Kimbrel, N. A., Meyer, E. C., Kruse, M. I., Gulliver, S. B., & Dolan, S. L. (2016). Neuropsychological functioning, coping, and quality of life among returning war veterans. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 61(3), 231. doi: 10.1037rep0000076.
- Mazurkiewicz, A., Turano, M., & Baran, R. (2019). What do student veterans want from their Daemen College experience? *Academic Festival Posters*. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.daemen.edu/academic\_festival/141.

- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research. A guide to design and implementation*. (4th ed.) San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, M. D., Dickson, K. L., & Koch, R. L. (2019). Empowering faculty to support academic persistence through a blended, scholarship-based faculty professional development program: The persistence scholars' program. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 19(1), 96–116. doi: 10.14434/josotl. v19i1.26786.
- Misra-Hebert, A. D., Santurri, L., DeChant, R., Watts, B., Sehgal, A. R., & Aron, D. C. (2015). A health assessment survey of veteran students: Utilizing a community college-veterans affairs medical center partnership. *Military Medicine*, 180 (10), 1059. doi: 10.7205/MIL.MED-D-14-00711.
- Morales, E., Narayan, A., & Atienza, W. (2019). Vulnerable vets? How gatekeeping and stereotypes shape access to student-veterans in the qualitative interview process.

  \*The Qualitative Report\*, 24(4), 717-730. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Morris, R., & Hayashi, P. M. (2019). Performance-based blended instruction for faculty development. *Meikai Studies in Language and Culture*, 2, 11-30. Retrieved from https://meikai.repo.nii.ac.jp/?action=pages\_view\_main&active\_action=repository\_view\_main\_item\_detail&item\_id=835&item\_no=1&page\_id=13&block\_id=21.
- Murthy, S., Iyer, S., & Warriem, J. (2015). ET4ET: A large-scale faculty professional development program on effective integration of educational technology. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 18(3). Retrieved from

- https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/jeductechsoci.18.3.16.
- Norman, S. B., Rosen, J., Himmerich, S., Myers, U. S., Davis, B., Browne, K. C., & Piland, N. (2015). Student Veteran perceptions of Facilitators and Barriers to Achieving Academic Goals. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development*, 52(6). doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2015.01.0013
- Orazem, R. J., Frazier, P. A., Schnurr, P. P., Oleson, H. E., Carlson, K. F., Litz, B. T., & Sayer, N. A. (2016). Identity adjustment among Afghanistan and Iraq war veterans with reintegration difficulty. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 9, 4-11. doi:10.1037/tra0000225.
- Osborne, N. J. (2014). Student veteran discussion panels: Deconstructing the traumatized veteran stigma on campus. *About Campus*, 19 (2), 24-29. doi:10.1002/abc.21153.
- Paskevicius, M., & Bortolin, K. (2016). Blending our practice: Using online and face-to-face methods to sustain community among faculty in an extended length professional development program. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 53(6), 605-615. doi: 10.1080/14703297.2015.1095646.
- Phelps, S. F. (2015). The Veteran student experience and the academic librarian. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 41(3), 236-240. doi: 10.1016/j.acalib.2015.04.001.
- Prasad, K. N., & Bondy, S. C. (2015). Common biochemical defects linkage between post-traumatic stress disorders, mild traumatic brain injury (TBI) and penetrating TBI. *Brain Research*, 1599, 103-114. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.12.038.
- Pyle, A., & Danniels, E. (2017). A Continuum of play-based learning: The role of the

- teacher in play-based pedagogy and the fear of hijacking play. *Early Education* and *Development*, 28(3), 274-289. doi: 10.1080/10409289.2016.1220771.
- Roost, A., & Roost, N. (2014). Supporting veterans in the classroom. *Academe*, 100(3), 31-34. Retrieved from https://commons.hostos.cuny.edu/ctl/wp-content/uploads/sites/26/2018/09/Touchstone-Spring-2013-Final.pdf#page=98.
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. (3rd ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Seidman, E. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research.* A guide for researchers in education & the social field. (4th ed.) New York, NY: Teachers College Press, Columbia University.
- Sherman, L. T., & Chappell, K. B. (2018). Global perspective on continuing professional development. *Asia Pacific Scholar*, 3(2), 1-5. doi: 10.29060/TAPS.2018-3-2/GP1074.
- Steinert, Y., Mann, K., Anderson, B., Barnett, B. M., Centeno, A., Naismith, L., & Ward, H. (2016). A systematic review of faculty development initiatives designed to enhance teaching effectiveness: A 10-year update: BEME Guide No. 40. *Medical teacher*, 38(8), 769-786. doi: 10.1080/0142159x.2016.1181851.
- Tomkin, J. H., Beilstein, S. O., Morphew, J. W., & Herman, G. L. (2019). Evidence that communities of practice are associated with active learning in large STEM lectures. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 6(1), 1. doi: 10.1186/s40594-018-0154-z.
- Walter, A. (2019). Challenges faced by US student veterans transitioning to a community

- college (Doctoral Dissertation Minneapolis, MN: Walden University). Retrieved from https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/6955/.
- Walters, S., Grover, K. S., Turner, R. C., & Alexander, J. C. (2017). Faculty perceptions related to teaching online: A starting point for designing faculty development initiatives. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 18(4), 4-19. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1161813.
- Williams, J., Brown, J. M., Bray, R. M., Anderson Goodell, E. M., Rae Olmsted, K., & Adler, A. B. (2016). Unit cohesion, resilience, and mental health of soldiers in basic combat training. *Military Psychology*, 28(4), 241. doi: 10.1037/mil0000120.
- Wilson, C. L. (2019). Social workers' perceptions of the effects on United States soldiers of multiple deployments (Doctoral dissertation Minneapolis, MN: Walden University). Retrieved from https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/7446/.
- Wortman, R. A., Vallone, T., Karnes, M., Walawander, C., Daly, D., & Fox-Garrity, B. (2018). Pinnipeds and PTSD: An analysis of a human-animal interaction case study program for a veteran. *Occupational therapy international*, 2018. doi: 10.1155/2018/2686728.
- Wynants, S., & Dennis, J. (2018). Professional development in an online context:

  Opportunities and challenges from the voices of college faculty. *Journal of Educators Online*, 15(1), n.1. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1168955.
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, 19(3), 321-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081.
- Young, S. (2017). Veteran's adjustment to college: Construction and validation of a

scale. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 2(2). Retrieved from https://journal-veteransstudies.org/articles/10.21061/jvs.13/galley/13/download/.

## Appendix A: The Project

Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending Community Colleges

Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

2020

## Professional Development Training Timeline

Proposed Topics	Proposed Activities	Resources	Timeline
Day 1 Introduction and overview of student-veterans in the classroom	Pre-training survey, power point presentation, Q&A session, learning activity, and a training evaluation at the end of training	Projector, laptop, screen, handouts, pens, and notepad	8am to 4pm
Day 2 Findings from the perspective of student-veterans	Group discussions and activities, and a training evaluation at the end of the training	Projector, laptop, screen, handouts, pens, and notepad	8am to 4pm
Day 3  Faculty perceptions of student-veterans and possible classroom accommodations	Group activity to create classroom accommodations. Q&A session and a training evaluation at the end of training	Projector, laptop, screen, handouts, pens, and notepad	8am to 4pm

Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

2020

#### Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

#### Day 1: Introduction and overview of student-veterans in the classroom

Training Time: 8 hours

Presenter: Terry Mc Quay

Objectives/Learning Outcomes

Present findings of my study

Know what defines student-veterans

Understand combat exposure of student-veterans

Training Materials/ Resources

Laptop

Projector

Notepad/ink pen

Power point presentation

Copier

Classroom with tables, chairs, and podium

## Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

## Day 2: Attendance Time: 8am to 4pm

	Last Name	First Name	Signature	Department
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
10				
11				
12				
13				
14				
15				

84

Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending Community Colleges

Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

**Pre-training Survey:** The purpose of this survey is to rate your perception/understanding

of classroom accommodation for student-veterans with PTSD and TBI before the three-

day training.

**Instructions**: Please read and circle an answer.

Please rate each question: Circle/Yes, No, Maybe, Somewhat

1. Do you have knowledge of student-veterans? yes, no, somewhat, maybe

2. Do you know what classroom accommodations are? yes, no, somewhat, maybe

3. Do you have knowledge of different types of classroom accommodations for

student-veterans? yes, no, somewhat, maybe

4. Do you know the difference between PTSD and TBI? yes, no, somewhat, maybe

5. Do you have knowledge of what student-veterans experience in combat? yes, no,

somewhat

6. Can you provide classroom accommodations to student-veterans with PTSD and

TBI? yes, no, somewhat, maybe

Optional: Are you a veteran: yes, no

#### Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

Day 1: Introduction and overview of student-veterans in the classroom

8:00-8:30 - Sign in and light refreshments

8:30-8:45 - Introduction of presenter and topic

8:45-9:00 - Welcome staff and faculty

9:00-9:15 - Pre-training survey

9:15- 10:15- Why I choose this topic: Discussion of PTSD/TBI. Present a power point presentation on the background and findings of my study

10:15-10:30 - Break

10:30-11:30- Question and answer about my findings

11:30-12:45 - Lunch break

12:45 - 1:45 - **Learning Activity**: Group discussion on how faculty could accommodate student-veterans in their classroom if they never self-identify. Also, how could they identify student-veterans in the classroom?

1:45-2:15- Learning Activity: Participants will reflect on their understanding of PTSD and TBI and be given the opportunity to talk with their peers about accommodating student-veterans in their classroom

2:15-3:15- Discussion of the way's faculty can create a veteran friendly classroom environment to help accommodate student-veterans with PTSD/TBI.

3:30-3:45 - Break

3:45-3:55 - Day 1 Training Evaluation Form

3:55-4:00 - Closing remarks

Day 1: Professional Development Training Evaluation Form (Handout)

**Topic:** Introduction and overview of student-veterans in the classroom

**Presenter:** Terry Mc Quay

Please complete and return this form to the presenter at the conclusion of the professional development training to provide feedback regarding the effectiveness of the training.

Thank you for your participation!

Post Training	Strongly	Agree	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or
Survey	Agree		Disagree		Disagree

The trainer was knowledgeable of the content

You will be able to apply what you learned from the training in the classroom

The training was informative and easy to understand

The training atmosphere was welcoming

The audio and power point slides could be seen and heard well Training Strengths:

Improvement Recommendations:

Additional Comments:

**Day 1 Power point Presentation** 



## **RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

- What are the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBI concerning classroom accommodations for their disability at one community college in Indiana?
- What are the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBI at one community college in Indiana?

## THINGS TO KNOW

- What is a student-veteran?
- What is PTSD?
- What is TBI?
- What is a classroom accommodation?

## WHAT IS A STUDENT-VETERAN?

A student veteran is any student who is a current or former member of the active duty military, the National guard, or Reserves regardless of deployment status, combat experience, legal veteran status, or GI Bill use.



## WHAT IS PTSD?

## Post Traumatic Stress Syndrome

#### Intrusive memories

- · Recurrent, unwanted distressing memories of the traumatic event
- @ Reliving the traumatic event as if it were happening again (flashbacks)
- Upsetting dreams or nightmares about the traumatic event
- Severe emotional distress or physical reactions to something that reminds you of the traumatic event

#### Avoidance

- Trying to avoid thinking or talking about the traumatic event
- Avoiding places, activities or people that remind you of the traumatic even

## WHAT IS PTSD?

#### • Negative changes in thinking and mood:

- Negative thoughts about yourself, other people or the world
- · Hopelessness about the future
- Memory problems, including not remembering important aspects of the traumatic event
- Difficulty maintaining close relationships
- · Feeling detached from family and friends
- Lack of interest in activities you once enjoyed
- Difficulty experiencing positive emotions
- · Feeling emotionally numb

## WHAT IS PTSD?

#### • Changes in physical and emotional reactions

- · Being easily startled or frightened
- · Always being on guard for danger
- · Self-destructive behavior, such as drinking too much or driving too fast
- Trouble sleeping
- Trouble concentrating
- · Irritability, angry outbursts or aggressive behavior
- Overwhelming guilt or shame

## WHAT IS TBI?

## Traumatic Brain Injury

#### Physical symptoms

- . Loss of consciousness for a few seconds to a few minutes
- No loss of consciousness, but a state of being dazed, confused or disoriented
- Headache
- Nausea or vomiting
- · Fatigue or drowsiness
- · Problems with speech
- Difficulty sleeping
- · Sleeping more than usual
- · Dizziness or loss of balance

## WHAT IS TBI?

#### Sensory symptoms

- Sensory problems, such as blurred vision, ringing in the ears, a bad taste in the mouth or changes in the ability to smell
- · Sensitivity to light or sound

#### Cognitive or mental symptoms

- · Memory or concentration problems
- Mood changes or mood swings
- · Feeling depressed or anxious
- Slurred speech
- · Agitation, combativeness or other unusual behavior

# WHAT IS A CLASSROOM ACCOMMODATION?

 It is intended help students learn the same information as other students



#### THEMES EXPLORED

Student-Veterans

 Types of Requested Classroom Accommodation

## STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

## What type of classroom accommodations do you know about?

- Do not know anything about classroom accommodations (two responded)
- Do not need them but my dependent receives tutoring and vocational rehabilitation
- Longer test taking time due to anxiety/panic attacks
- Allowed to get up and stretch after each section of a test because of back injury. Can not sit, stand, or lay down very long
- As long as he do not distract the class, he can move around in the classroom
- Note takers and voice recorder

### STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

## Are you aware of the process for requesting services?

 Do not know, Adult Disability Services (ADA), email veteran services, contact advocate, psychiatric doctor will provide something in writing



#### STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

## Have you ever asked for classroom accommodations?

- "No, because I did not need too."
- "Did not know what would be available for a person like me with PTSD."
- "Talked to my teachers about what I was experiencing and they worked with me."

### THEMES EXPLORED

 Preferred Classroom Accommodations of Student-Veterans with PTSD and TBI

## STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

Do you think that student-veterans require different classroom because of PTSD or TBI?

- "Yes, because regular students will not experience PTSD/TBI the way studentveterans experience it. So we may need different accommodations. Also, we may relive experiences."
- "Smaller classrooms because I get overwhelmed in larger ones. Also, the instructor would have to know a little about what is going on with the student."

## STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

#### Continued

Do you think that student-veterans require different classroom because of PTSD or TBI?

- "Those with memory problems. I have memory problems but do well in college".
- "Depends on the individual."
- "Honestly, I don't know because, I have never been in class with another studentveteran."

#### STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

What can faculty do to better accommodate your disability in the college classroom?

- "I like the PowerPoints because I do not have to take many notes."
- "I like the outlines of the lessons that my professor uploads to Black Board so I can go back look at it and print it to hang on too."
- "I like the Hybrid Calculus class that is online. We meet in class but there are some students that do not come to class. The professor records the lectures and put them online with lecture notes."

## STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

Is there anything else you would like to add?

- "I would not mind having a mentor program with someone to check on me and see how I am doing." A professor who was a veteran and teaches math was my mentor first semester."
- "I would like to have veteran representation at the building not someone I have to email. I want a physical person because he advisor deflects me to someone else that is not there." I should have the same services as other student's and not be discriminated against."

## STUDENT-VETERANS FINDINGS

Is there anything else you would like to add?

"The Community College does a great job taking care of student-veterans. I have met nothing but friendly staff who helped me. I have not had a bad experience."

## CONCLUSION

#### Student-Veterans

- Student-veterans are private.
- There is no where on campus student-veterans hang out.
- They want a physical person on campus to address classroom accommodations.
- They did not know the different types of classroom accommodations for PTSD or anxiety which is the reason they did not request them.
- They liked smaller classes, power points with notes, video recordings of classroom lectures.
- Professors are friendly and eager to assist.

## CONCLUSION

#### Student-veterans

- Alpha suggested a mentor program where student-veterans would have there own point of contact to address any student-veteran issues.
- Charlie wanted a veterans advisor on campus that he could go too. Charlie felt that he was being discriminated against by not having the same supports that other students had on campus.

#### THEMES EXPLORED

#### Faculty

Faculty Understanding of Student-Veterans in the Classroom

## **FACULTY FINDINGS**

How are you aware of student-veterans that require classroom accommodations?

- They have met with the disability service person and have a form with their disability accommodations written on the form. Then the Professor would just makes the accommodations."
- "There would be a relationship with the disability services person and our veteran's affairs representative."
- The only way I would know is if they go through disability services."

# How are you aware of student-veterans that require classroom accommodations?

- "If they go through the accommodation process I am given paperwork. If they come to me and say they need an accommodations, I tell them who they have to see."
- "I go around the ask and it is on my power point slide too."

# **FACULTY FINDINGS**

# What type of classroom accommodations do you know about?

- Having a tape recorder and EXTRA TIME to take quizzes
- Allowed to take exam in quiet place s through testing centers
- "I am allowed to record my lectures."
- Having a interpreter and transcription services
- "Being mindful of loud noises in the class."

Have you been able to provide the classroom accommodation requested by the student-veterans?

- "Yes, no problem."
- "Yes, they may not want to go through disability services. They might have a hard time juggling. I do this for all of my students. I might reopen an assignment to work with their schedule."
- "VA appointments are hard to get so I will help accommodate."

# **FACULTY FINDINGS**

What classroom accommodations have student-veterans asked of you?

- "Nothing Specific of me."
- "I do not think anyone has anything of me."
- "I have not had any student-veteran ask for any accommodations."
- "I have not had anyone ask me for anything special at all."

#### Is there anything else you would like to add?

- "I do not know if a student is a veteran unless they tell me. I can gage it by there mannerism. They speak and behave differently. I am sure that I have some that have not come out."
- "I have worked with student-veterans from the military and tried to mentor them."
- "Most of them have seen combat."

# **FACULTY FINDINGS**

#### Summary

- If student-veterans do not self-Identify it is hard to know whether they are veterans or need classroom accommodations.
- Student-veterans are normally recognized by their mannerisms and maturity.
- Faculty recognize student-veterans by what they heard on television.
- Classroom accommodations are provided when something in writing is presented from the disability services.

# Summary

 Faculty at the community college are very interested in being apart of the research to learn more about student-veterans.

# **HELPFUL REFERENCES**

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs <a href="https://www.va.gov/">https://www.va.gov/</a>

Indiana Department of Veterans Affairs https://www.in.gov/dva/

#### Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

Day 2: Findings from the perspective of student-veterans

Training Time: 8 hours Presenter: Terry Mc Quay

#### **Objectives/Learning Outcomes**

Understanding and creation of classroom accommodations

Awareness of one's own strength to create and implement accommodations in your

classroom for student veterans

#### **Training Materials/ Resources**

Laptop

Projector

Notepad/ink pen

Power point presentation

Copier

Classroom with tables, chairs, and podium

Paper and ink pen

# Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

# Day 2: Attendance Time: 8am to 4pm

·	Last Name	First Name	Signature	Department
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
10				
11				
12				
13				
14				
15				

Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

Day 2 Experiences of student-veterans and possible accommodations

8:00-8:30 Sign in and light refreshments of Presenter and recap of day 1

8:30-8:45 Introduction of presenter and recap of day 1

8:45-10:15 – Learning Activity: Break into groups and write down three possible classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD/TBI.

10:15-11:45 – Each group will present their classroom accommodations. Also, discuss why they chose it and how they might implement it in the classroom.

11:45- 1:00 - Lunch Break

1:00- 3:00 – Learning Activity Continued: Group discussion on classroom accommodations that can be implemented in the classroom. Also, discuss other campus activities that can be implemented to assist student-veterans.

3:00- 3:15- Break

3:15-3:45- Learning Activity: Each participant will be allowed to share their feelings on how comfortable they feel implementing classroom accommodations

3:45 3:55 - Day 2 Training Evaluation Form

3:55-4:00 - Closing remarks

Day 2: Professional Development Training Evaluation Form (Handout)

Topic: PTSD/TBI

Presenter: Terry Mc Quay

Please complete and return this form to the presenter at the conclusion of the professional development training to provide feedback regarding the effectiveness of the training. Thank you for your participation!

Post Training	Strongly	Agree	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree
Survey	Agree		Disagree		or Disagree

The trainer was knowledgeable of the content

You will be able to apply what you learned from the training in the classroom

The training was informative and easy to understand

The training atmosphere was welcoming

The audio and power point slides could be seen and heard well

**Training Strengths:** 

Improvement Recommendations:

Additional Comments:

#### Staff and Faculty Professional Development

Day 3: Creating classroom accommodations

Training Time: 8 hours

Presenter: Terry Mc Quay

Objectives/Desired Outcomes

Awareness of student-veterans and faculty perceptions

Better understanding of how to assist student-veterans on campus

Strategies to implement in the classroom to accommodate student-veterans

Training Materials/ Resources

Laptop

Projector

Notepad/ink pen

Power point presentation

Copier

Classroom with tables, chairs, and podium

# Staff and Faculty Development Training

### Day 3: Attendance Time: 8am to 4pm

	Last Name	First Name	Signature	Department
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
10				
11				
12				
13				
14				
15				

# Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending Community Colleges Staff and Faculty Development Training

Day 3

8:00-8:30 - Sign in and light refreshments

8:30-8:45 - Introduction of Presenter and recap of day 2

10:00-11:45- Learning Activity/Handout: Participants will be divided into groups. Each group will be given a PTSD/TBI scenario of a student-veteran and write down four classroom accommodations

11:45- 1:00- Lunch Break

1:00-2:30 – Learning Activity: Each group will present their scenarios and classroom accommodations. Feedback will be allowed from the audience after each group present 2:30-2:45- Break

2:45 - 3:15 - Handout of certificates of appreciation for participating in the training

3:15 - 3:30 - Day 2 Training Evaluation Form

3:30 - 3:45 - Post Training survey

3:45 - 4:00 - Closing remarks

Day 3: Professional Development Training Evaluation Form (Handout)

Topic: PTSD/TBI

Presenter: Terry Mc Quay

Please complete and return this form to the presenter at the conclusion of the professional development training to provide feedback regarding the effectiveness of the training.

Thank you for your participation!

Post Training Survey	Strongly	Agree	Strongly	Disagree	Neither
	Agree		Disagree		Agree or
					Disagree

The trainer was knowledgeable of the content

You will be able to apply what you learned from the training in the classroom

The training was informative and easy to understand

The training atmosphere was welcoming

The audio and power point slides could be seen and heard well

Training Strengths:

Improvement Recommendations:

**Additional Comments:** 

Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

Post-training Survey: The purpose of this survey is to rate your perception/understanding of classroom accommodation for student-veterans with PTSD and TBI upon completion of the three-day training

Instructions: Please read and circle an answer

Please read each question: Circle/Yes, No, Maybe, Somewhat

Do you have better knowledge of student-veterans? yes, no, maybe, somewhat

Do you have a better understanding of classroom accommodation for student-veterans with PTSD/TBI? yes, no, maybe, somewhat

Do you have better knowledge of the different types of classroom accommodations for student-veterans? yes, no, maybe, somewhat

Do you better understand the difference between PTSD and TBI? yes, no, maybe, somewhat

Do you have better knowledge of what student-veterans experience in combat? yes, no, maybe, somewhat

After the three-day training are you better equipped to provide classroom accommodations to student-veterans with PTSD and TBI? yes, no, maybe, somewhat

# **VIGNETTES**

#### Vignette 1: Mr. Marine

This was his second deployment to Iraq. He was in charge of 250 marines. His unit lost nine soldiers over six months. His fellow comrades lost arms and legs and other had serious gunshot wounds. Now, he is at home and retired from the military. He has flashbacks from the wars and attend therapy. He said that "he just hates to think of losing soldiers and the wounds they sustained hunts him". He is enrolled in the community college and do not know any other veterans. He attends full-time and in his second semester. He disclosed to his teachers that he is a veteran and has flashbacks. One time he had to leave the classroom when one of his teachers showed a movie about the war in Iraq. He suffers from PTSD but is open about his condition. His teachers are willing to help him but do not fully understand his condition. There are other faculty who served in the military who might be able to help his professors understand PTSD.

#### Vignette 2: Ms. Army

Ms. Army is a single mother and served 10 years in the military. She was stationed in Germany for three years and traveled throughout the state. After being out of the military for 6 years she decided to join the National Guard. Then she deployed to Iraq with the unit for one year leaving behind her family. She was the commander's driver while stationed in Iraq and has seen combat. There were many days when she though that she would die in the war because many soldiers died or were injured. After returning home, she was diagnosed with PTSD and anxiety while suffering from survivor's remorse. She attends therapy and takes medication for PTSD and Anxiety. She is enrolled in the classes part-time at the community college.

# VIGNETTES

#### Vignette 3: Mr. Army

Mr. Army served 20 years in the military. He is married and has three children. He deployed three times during Operation Iraqi Freedom. He receives compensation for PTSD and TBI. He suffers from blurry vison and has trouble remembering new information. During his three tours he saw a lot of his comrades killed. He is happy to be home but still have night mares. Currently, he is enrolled in college and this is his first semester. He is afraid that his classmates may think he is weird because he tends to ask lots of questions and sit away from others. He contacted the disability service office through email because there is no one campus. Mr. Army feels alone on the campus and wonders if any of his professors are veterans. Mr. Army wonders if other soldiers on campus have TBI.

#### Vignette 4: Ms. Marine

Ms. Marine is married and has three children. She is very busy and does not have time to attend school full-time. She served 4 years in the Marines and one tour in Afghanistan as a supply specialist. When she returned home any noise would scare her. As a supply specialist, she would accompany soldiers on mission throughout the day and night. One time an Improvised Explosive Device (IED) blew up a vehicle on a convey that she was a part of and killed the soldiers. It still haunts her and she attends therapy monthly to address her trauma. Ms. Marine attends the local community college part-time and misses class when she does not have a babysitter.
Ms. Marine says that she can still complete
her work through blackboard because the
teachers upload all assignments. Ms. Marine would like information on veteran's compensation, medical, and educational benefits. The professors are really nice and create a welcoming environment in the classroom. Ms. Marine would love to graduate and apply for disability compensation.

#### Helpful Resources

Staff and Faculty Professional Development Training

Video: Veterans in Your Classrooms: Successful Strategies and Interventions

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LYYMPUooxMU

Department of Veterans Affairs https://www.va.gov/

Resources-DAV https://www.dav.org/veterans/resources/

Veteran Crisis Line 24/7: 800-273-8255 and press 1, Text 838255, or if you have hearing

loss 800-799-4889

VA Campus Tool Kit- <a href="https://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/studentveteran/">https://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/studentveteran/</a>

Appendix B: Interview Protocol for Student Veterans

Project: Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending Community

Colleges

Time of Interview:

Date:

Place:

Interviewer:

Interviewee:

Position of Interviewee:

The purpose of this case study will be to (a) explore both the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBI concerning classroom accommodations for their disability at one community college in Indiana and (b) the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations of student-veterans with a PTSD or TBI at one community college in Indiana

Student-veterans and faculty will be interviewed. Names will not be mentioned in the study, and the data will be stored in a secure location. The interview will be 45 minutes with structured open-ended questions. Student-veterans and faculty will sign an informed consent that outlines the guarantee of confidentiality.

(Make sure the interviewee has read and signed the consent form)

(Turn on the recorder and test it)

Demographic Questions:

1. How long have you attend this community college?

- 2. How many years did you serve in the military?
- 3. Can you tell me of your tours of duty?

**Interview Questions:** 

- 4. What type of classroom accommodations do you know about? (RQ1)
- 5. Are you aware of the process for requesting classroom accommodations? (RQ1)
- 6. Have you ever asked for classroom accommodations? Why or Why not? (RQ1)
- 7. Do you think that student-veterans require different classroom accommodations because of PTSD or TBI than non-student-veterans in the college classroom? Why? (RQ1)
- 8. What can faculty do to better accommodate your disability in the college classroom? (RQ1)
- 9. Is there anything else you would like to add? (RQ1)

(Thank the participants for their cooperation and participation in the interview. Assure them of the confidentiality of the responses and the potential for future interviews)

#### Appendix C: Interview Protocol for Faculty

Project: Classroom Accommodations for Student-Veterans Attending Community
Colleges
Time of Interview:

Date:

Place:

Interviewer:

Interviewee:

Position of Interviewee:

The purpose of this case study will be to (a) explore both the perceptions of student-veterans with PTSD or TBI concerning classroom accommodations for their disability at one community college in Indiana and (b) the perceptions of faculty regarding classroom accommodations for student-veterans with PTSD or TBI at one community college Student-veterans and faculty will be interviewed. Names will not be mentioned in the study, and the data will be stored in a secure location. The interview will be 45 minutes with structured open-ended questions. Student-veterans and faculty will sign an informed consent that outlines the guarantee of confidentiality.

(Make sure the interviewee has read and signed the consent form)

(Turn on the recorder and test it)

#### Demographic Questions:

- 1. How many years have you been a professor at this community college?
- 2. What is your definition of a student-veteran?

3. What do you know about student-veterans returning from Iraq or Afghanistan?

#### **Interview Questions:**

- 4. How are you aware of student-veterans that require classroom accommodations?
  (RQ2)
- 5. What type of classroom accommodations do you know about? (RQ2)
- 6. What classroom accommodations have student-veterans asked of you? (RQ2)
- 7. Have you been able to provide the classroom accommodations requested by student-veteran? (RQ2)
- 8. Is there anything else that you would like to add? (RQ2)

(Thank the participants for their cooperation and participation in the interview. Assure them of the confidentiality of the responses and the potential for future interviews)